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Contents About us

At Karbon Homes, we build, manage, and look 
after affordable homes for people across the 
North. And then we go further, we give them the 
strong foundations they need to get on with life.

Since our formation in 2017, we’ve focused on 
delivering our three strategic aims - to provide as 
many good quality homes as we can, to deliver an 
excellent customer experience, and to shape 
strong, sustainable places for our communities. 

Our footprint covers the North East of England and 
Yorkshire, with almost 30,000 homes across 
diverse communities, all facing different 
opportunities and challenges.

We always make the effort to understand our 
customers. We believe that everyone deserves 
respect and everyone’s voices should be heard. 

Some customers just need an affordable home, or 
a way onto the property ladder. Others might 
need more – financial advice, community services, 
sheltered accommodation or even training that 
can lead to a new job. Whatever people need  
to feel more secure, confident and happy with 
where they’re at, we work hard to provide it.

As a profit-for-a-purpose organisation, we invest 
any surplus we generate into improving our 
properties and communities, building new homes 
and delivering services which provide sustainable 
outcomes for our customers and communities. 

We believe that by combining a sound business 
head with a strong social heart and staying true to 
our values, we can build strong foundations for 
even more people.

Karbon Homes is a charitable registered society 
and is regulated by the Regulator of Social 
Housing.
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Operating and 
financial review 

Our customer service excellence was also 
recognised by the Institute of Customer Service, 
who awarded us with their ServiceMark 
accreditation. 

Byker Community Trust, which transferred into 
Karbon on 1 April 2021 under a transfer of 
engagement, also retained its Customer Service 
Excellence accreditation which commends the 
team’s commitment to delivering high quality 
housing and services.

Thousands of our customers benefitted from the 
range of additional services that we provide and as 
the cost of living continues to rise, the additional 
support we offer is more important than ever. We 
are planning on providing more support in the 
coming year, via a newly established cost of living 
steering group, looking at how we can support 
customers further.

Close to 5,000 customers benefitted from our 
money, debt and benefits advice service, Money 
Matters, with the team helping customers 
generate over £4.5m of income gains. And further 
development of our furniture and appliance rental 
service, Home Comforts, is helping ensure 
customers have access to affordable essentials for 
setting up home.

We’ve also invested in enhancing our digital 
customer experience. This includes the launch of 
‘On Our Way’, which sends customers a text 
message, letting them know when our trades 
colleagues will arrive at their home for an 
appointment, and a map to track their journey.

Shaping strong, sustainable places

Shaping the places in which we work and helping 
build strong communities, where our customers 
can thrive and fulfil their potential, continues to be 
a key focus for the organisation.

Last year we made a number of deeper place-
based interventions in areas where we have a large 
concentration of homes. We began a long-term 
placeshaping project in Stanley in Durham, where 1 
in 4 residents live in a Karbon home. 

Working closely with customers, stakeholders and 
community organisations, the project has helped 

us understand what we can do to develop 
opportunities for the economy of the town to 
grow, and to help Stanley residents live more 
prosperous lives.  

In the autumn, we successfully secured over  
£700k in funding from the UK Government’s 
Community Renewal Fund to launch an ambitious 
employability programme designed to help boost 
opportunities in the North of Tyne region. 

This programme included the New Start scheme,  
a paid placement initiative for people over 25, 
which has created 73 paid, five-month work 
placements in career start roles. 

Alongside this we carried out a Foundational 
Economy study in North Shields, Blyth and Byker, 
aimed at identifying the barriers to employability in 
those communities. We also embarked on a feasibility 
study to explore the idea of a shared placement 
model of employment for North East SMEs. 

Our work to support local communities and help 
build great places for our customers to live in 
illustrates how well-positioned we are to work 
alongside the Government, and other local 
partners, to help deliver on the levelling up 
agenda. By investing in both the physical fabric of 
local places and the social fabric of local 
communities, we can increase opportunities and 
prosperity for people living there.  

Enablers of our success

We’re always investing in our people and ways of 
working to help make Karbon a great place to work. 

This is reflected in our Employee Net Promoter 
Score (eNPS), which measures how likely 
employees are to recommend your organisation as 
a good place to work. Scored from -100 to +100, 
with +20 to +40 considered a very good or 
excellent, we scored +27 for the year.

To support colleagues with a more flexible, hybrid 
way of working, last year we invested heavily in our 
workspaces. We worked closely with colleagues 
on this, to build our understanding of their needs 
and wants when it came to flexible working and, as 
a result, changes were made to our office spaces, 
providing more collaborative, inspiring and 

Looking back on 2021/22

Despite the challenges of 2021/2022, looking back 
over the last year, as an organisation we have much 
to celebrate.

We maintained a positive performance, in spite of 
a difficult external environment, and continued to 
invest in and push forward with a number of new 
and exciting projects which will help us deliver on 
our organisational aims.

After carrying out a refresh of our Stronger 
Foundations Strategy, we’ve outlined the direction 
and priorities of the organisation over the next five 
years. 

Our colleagues were key to this refresh and with 
their passion and commitment, we look forward to 
seeing our strategy come to life through them.

Providing as many good quality 
homes as we can

The UK’s housing crisis is one of the biggest 
challenges the country faces, and we’re committed 
to playing our part in tackling it by growing the 
number of new homes that we own and manage 
and significantly investing in our existing homes.  

Despite difficulties with the supply chain and 
labour shortages, as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic and Brexit, we had a strong year 
delivering 463 new affordable homes in a variety 
of tenures across an even wider geography. 

To help support our ambitious plans to build over 
4,000 new homes over the next six years, we were 
pleased to achieve Strategic Partnership status with 
Homes England. Through the partnership, we 
secured £131.5m to support the delivery of 2,200 
mixed tenure homes across the North East and 
Yorkshire and at least 50% of those are either 
underway or in the pipeline.

The net zero challenge has continued to sit at the 
forefront of all our plans. 

Our new build programme has explored more 
energy efficient building techniques and methods 
of construction and, where possible, prioritised 
renewable energy heating systems and reaching 
EPC A rating.  

And we’ve invested heavily in bringing more of our 
existing homes towards net zero, keeping us on 
track to achieve EPC rating C in all our homes by 
2030. Through the Government’s Social Housing 
Decarbonisation Fund, we secured a grant of 
£1.0m to invest in energy saving measures for 91 
homes across Durham and Northumberland.

We also invested £11.6m in ensuring our customers 
are as safe as they can be in their homes. Our 
customer and building safety work is being carried 
out by our newly appointed Assistant Director of 
Customer and Building Safety, a post we’ve 
created in response to the Government’s new 
Building Safety Bill.

Delivering an excellent customer 
service

We work hard to help build better lives for our 
customers and understand the importance of 
providing the best possible service to every 
customer, every time. 

This is reflected in our customer satisfaction scores 
where we achieved a Net Promoter  
Score of +49.9 for the year, which  
indicates our customers’ overall  
satisfaction with Karbon and  
their willingness to recommend  
us to others. With scores 
ranging from -100 to +100,  
any score above 0 is  
considered good, and  
above 50 is excellent.
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Operating and 
financial review (continued) 

welcoming environments. We also invested in new 
vans with better technology, to help our colleagues 
out and about engage more easily with what’s 
going on in the organisation.

We also took steps to develop our environmental 
practices further, setting up a Response to Climate 
Change project group with colleagues from across 
the organisation working together to directly 
address how we can reduce our carbon footprint.

To help reinforce our ambitions and help 
colleagues better understand the role they play in 
achieving our organisational aims, we worked with 
them to develop ‘Our Future Picture’, an innovation 
tool that captures what the future of Karbon will 
look like once we’ve delivered our strategy. Turning 
our ‘Our Future Picture’ into a reality relies on 
colleagues having the right work environment and 
a supportive culture and we’ll continue to use 
colleague insight and feedback to maintain this.

Overview of business

The principal activity of Karbon Homes is the 
provision of affordable homes for rent and shared 
ownership, together with housing support for 
vulnerable and elderly residents. Karbon Homes is 
registered with the Regulator of Social Housing 
(RSH) as a registered provider of affordable housing.

Karbon Homes is the parent association of York 
Housing Association (YHA), also registered with 
the RSH. 

Both associations are charitable and are registered 
as societies under the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. 

Karbon Homes Limited engages in commercial 
activities through its subsidiary companies: Prince 
Bishops Homes (market rent and for-sale 
development), Karbon Solutions Limited (cost 
sharing group), Enterprise Durham Partnership 
Limited (social enterprise), Next Level Developments 

Limited (residential development), Karbon 
Developments Limited (development services) and 
Karbon Land Ventures Limited (property 
development). 

On 1 April 2021 Karbon Homes acquired Byker 
Community Trust via a transfer of engagement. 
This followed a robust due diligence process and 
consultation with tenants. The purpose of the 
partnership is to enable Byker to deliver its 
strategic objectives and to contribute to a thriving 
community.

In January 2020, with partners, we set up a 
company called Invisible Creations. In December 
2021, Invisible Creations became insolvent, and, 
anticipating this, we prudently provided for the 
loss in this company at the end of 2020/21. This is 
shown in note 16. 

During 2020/21, Next Level Developments Limited 
entered into a limited liability partnership with JC 
Quay Limited and UKQ Residential Investments 
Limited to develop new apartments at the Fish 
Quay at North Shields. This development is making 
good progress with properties due to complete in 
2022/23.

In January 2022 Karbon Land Ventures Limited was 
created to develop 750 social housing properties 
in Seaham Garden Village.

Karbon Homes is responsible for establishing the 
group’s overall policies and strategies, and for 
monitoring compliance with group values and 
performance against group targets, within a clearly 
defined framework of delegation and system of 
control. 

The group’s head office is based in Newcastle 
upon Tyne and its homes are primarily in the North 
East of England and Yorkshire.    

More detail of the group’s structure is provided in 
note 17.

Financial performance in the period 

The detailed results for the year are set out in the group’s Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 
36 and the notes to the financial statements on pages 43 to 104. The following table provides a summary of the group‘s 
results:

For the year ended 31 March 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s

Turnover 155,186 142,400 135,933 129,426 126,678

Negative goodwill 8,561  -    -    -   1,693

Operating surplus 52,550 38,757 38,622 33,538 32,980

Deficit on sale of other fixed assets (71)  -    -    -   (21)

Net interest payable, other finance costs (19,608) (19,190) (17,684) (18,559) (12,939)

Unrealised gain/(loss) on revaluation of  
housing properties

2,740 2,794 1,223 (8,827) 2,574

Share of operating deficit in associate  -   (67)  -    -    -   

Surplus for the year before tax 35,611 22,294 22,161 6,152 22,594

Turnover has increased year on year by 9%, mainly as a result of Byker Community Trust (BCT) coming into the group 
from April 2021, the rent increase of 1.5% and rent from the development of new properties. In 2022 there is a 
negative goodwill adjustment in relation to the BCT transfer of engagement. Operating surplus has also increased as 
a result of these changes. There has been a gain on the revaluation of investment properties, predominately held in 
our Prince Bishops Homes subsidiary, which is a sign of the current strong housing market. As a housing association, 
our surplus will be re-invested in the development of new homes and improvements to existing homes.

Statement of financial position 

The detailed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is provided on page 38 and supporting details can be 
found in the notes to the financial statements on pages 43 to 104.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s

Fixed assets 1,054,319 974,766 921,732 867,549 789,745

Net current assets 85,689 129,500 34,928 66,524 27,386

Total assets less current liabilities 1,140,008 1,104,266 956,660 934,073 817,131

Creditors falling due after more than one year (486,434) (501,669) (381,796) (389,804) (291,341)

Deferred grants (284,695) (272,742) (267,670) (260,841) (253,935)

Provision for liabilities and charges (1,855) (1,186) (394) (2,476) (2,445)

Pension liability (24,403) (40,925) (27,975) (35,503) (22,490)

Reserves 342,621 287,744 278,825 245,449 246,920

The increase in fixed assets reflects the transfer of BCT homes, the investment in the development of new homes 
referred to above, and our continued investment in our existing homes. The investment in new homes and in 
existing homes has been financed primarily by the £250.0m bond financing which we have put in place over the 
last two years. The movement in net current assets is mainly due to a decrease in cash and investments as this is used 
for working capital.
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Operating and 
financial review (continued) 

they compare with others, reporting quarterly to our 
performance committee and board.

VFM metrics and benchmarking

Benchmarking is important to any business. It provides key 
comparisons with similar organisations, enabling 
understanding of strengths and weaknesses and 
underpinning an evidence-based approach to resource 
allocation, cost reduction and target setting. The group’s 
operating costs and key financial indicators are 
benchmarked annually using a variety of sources, including 
data from the Regulator for Social Housing (RSH) Global 
Accounts.

These are supplemented further through our operational 
key performance indicators, which we monitor against our 
peer group using the sector benchmarking club 
HouseMark. One of our aims is to be a high performing 
organisation and we have set ourselves the very demanding 
objective of being in the upper quartile, and even upper 
decile, for a number of indicators which we consider are 
most important to ourselves as a group but more 
importantly, to our key stakeholders.

In April 2018, a new value for money standard was 
introduced by the regulator, along with a sector-wide set of 
metrics which aids direct comparison between housing 
providers. These metrics are included within our key 
performance indicators below. 

Capital structure, treasury policy and 
activity

The group had £591.5m of committed debt 
funding of which £466.8m is drawn. £124.7m 
remained undrawn and available to fund the 
group’s asset management and ongoing new 
homes development programmes.

Debt is secured by specific charges on housing 
land and buildings. 

The group borrows, principally from banks, 
building societies and capital markets, at both fixed 
and floating rates of interest. The Group Treasury 
Management Policy includes a target of 
maintaining a portfolio of fixed rate borrowing of 
between 70% to 90%. The proportion of fixed rate 
borrowings at 31 March 2022 was 96% (2021: 96%).

The group’s lending agreements require 
compliance with a number of financial and non-
financial covenants. The group’s position is 
monitored on an ongoing basis and reported to 
the board each quarter. The group monitors cash 
flow forecasts closely to ensure that sufficient 
funds are available to meet liabilities when they fall 
due, whilst not incurring unnecessary finance 
costs, by only drawing on loan facilities when 
required. Recent reports confirmed that the group 
was in compliance with its loan covenants at the 
balance sheet date and the board expects to 
remain compliant in the foreseeable future.

Our strong financial performance ensures we have 
ample headroom on interest cover requirements. 
The gearing ratio, which is a measure of net debt 
(short and long term loans less cash) as a % of gross 
cost of housing properties, is currently 36% and 
remains well within our most restrictive covenant 
of 45%.  This is based on covenants agreed with 
our lenders and differs from the calculation in the 
value for money (VFM) metric as required by the 
Regulator of Social Housing as shown on page 11. 

The group has cash balances of £30.1m at 31 March 
2022 (2021: £62.6m) and cash investments of 
£93.4m (2021: £84.3m). The current assets to 
current liabilities ratio stands at 2.41 (2021: 3.87).

The group has sufficient funds to meet its 
requirements for the next 12 months from the date 
of this report. 

Strategic performance and value for 
money  

We recognise that if we want to deliver our 
strategic aims we have to find the additional 
financial capacity through a combination of 
managed cost savings and income generation. We 
need to provide more for less and use any spare 
capacity that we have available in our business 
plan.

Our aim in relation to value for money is to create a 
balance of cost, quality and benefit to our 
customers and the business. We aim to “make the 
best use of our money, assets and people to 
deliver our objectives and maximise quality and 
value for our customers and the business.”

By ensuring that everything we do is as effective 
and efficient as possible, any capacity within our 
resources can be reinvested into our communities, 
either in terms of new homes or improved 
services. Continued growth, sensible asset 
management, the use of benchmarking, 
sustainable procurement, a rounded review of 
current performance and stretching targets for the 
future remain key, but we also plan to release the 
untapped capacity within our business plan to 
provide added value.

In achieving VFM we understand the balance 
between economy, efficiency, and effectiveness. 
Targets for key performance measures are agreed 
with the board each financial year to aid 
continuous improvement. On a monthly basis, we 
review our key performance indicators and how 

Provide as many good quality homes as we can

Performance has increased from 8.3% in 
2021 to 8.8% in 2022. Investment in the 
development of new properties and 
purchase of newly built properties is 
£67.3m and works to existing properties 
is £20.3m, an increase of 15.3% from 
2021. Our target for 2022 was 12.7% 
which was not achieved due to the 
development of 64 fewer properties 
than target, which was impacted by the 
current industry pressures due to labour 
and material supply and delays.

Performance

Our target for 2023 is 15.2% which 
assumes £138.5m investment in the 
development of new properties and 
£25.9m works to existing properties.

Target 
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Provide as many good quality homes as we can (continued) Provide as many good quality homes as we can (continued)

Value for money (VFM) (continued)

Operating and 
financial review (continued) 

In 2022 the total number of social 
housing units developed was 458 which 
equates to 1.6% of social housing units 
owned. In 2021 a total of 440 social 
housing units were developed which 
also equates to 1.6% of social housing 
units owned. Our target for 2022 was 
2.0% which was not achieved due to 64 
fewer properties being developed, 
mainly due to the current industry 
pressures around labour and material 
supply and delays.

Performance

Our target for 2023 is 2.6% which 
equates to the development of 770 
social housing units.

Target 

In 2022 we developed five non-social 
housing properties compared to 14 in 
2021. This equates to 0.02% of total social 
and non-social housing units owned 
compared to 0.1% in 2021.

Performance

Our target for 2023 is 0.01% which 
equates to the development of four 
non-social housing units.

Target 

Our 2022 actual performance was 43.9% 
compared to 45.0% in 2021. Loans less 
cash has increased by £23.7m (6%) from 
2021, however fixed assets at cost has 
increased by a higher proportion (8%). 
Gearing was higher than target due to 
lower cash and higher fixed asset cost 
than assumed in the target, partly as a 
result of the Byker Community Trust 
transfer of engagement into Karbon.

Performance

Our target for 2023 is 41.5%.

Target 

In 2022 return on capital employed 
(ROCE) was 3.9% compared to 3.5% in 
2021, and a target of 3.8%. This is mainly 
due to an increase in operating surplus 
of £5.3m (14%) compared to 2021, whilst 
assets less liabilities have increased by 
3.2%. Negative goodwill has been 
excluded from the operating surplus in 
2021/22.

Performance

Our target for 2023 is 3.7%.

Target 
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Average re-let time is the average time 
taken (in days) to re-let standard voids. It 
excludes voids that underwent major 
works, and is generally considered to be 
an indication of voids and lettings 
performance. In 2022 our performance 
has improved considerably to an average 
of 48.96 days from 69.00 days in 2021. 

Performance

Our target for 2023 is 63 days.

Target 

In 2022 our repairs appointments made 
and kept has remained stable and is at 
98.08% which exceeds the performance 
of our peer group. 

Performance

Our target for 2023 remains at 98%.

Target 

Deliver excellent customer service Shape strong, sustainable places

Value for money (VFM) (continued)

Operating and 
financial review (continued) 

Repairs appointments made and kept 
(Karbon Homes association only)

Average re-let time

Void rent loss as percentage of annual rent debit

Emergency works completed on time 
has also remained stable at 99.50% in 
2022. This performance is marginally 
lower than the target of 99.75% due to 
resource issues throughout the year 
from the pandemic and towards the 
latter part of the year, the change in 
labour market. The performance of our
peer group (median target) is not 
available for this indicator.

Performance

Our target for 2023 remains at 99.75%.

Target 

Void rent loss performance has improved to 
1.82%, down from 2.17% in 2021. We 
allocated 1,909 homes, only slightly reduced 
from each of the previous two years. 
Productivity and performance have now 
returned to expected levels following the 
Covid-19 pandemic. We have worked hard 
to reduce the number of empty homes; we 
ended the year with 481 empty homes, a 
reduction of over 100 from the same time 
the year before. These outcomes are the 
result of a three-year empty homes project 
across Karbon Homes to reduce the 
number of homes that are empty, the 
average days to let a home and the amount 
of rent lost as a result. 

Performance

Our target for 2023 is 2.1%.

Target 
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Enabler - growth and financial strength Enabler - growth and financial strength

Value for money (VFM) (continued)

Operating and 
financial review (continued) 

Operating margin overall EBITDA MRI Interest Cover

Operating margin social housing lettings Headline social housing cost per unit

Operating margin is 25.9% in 2022 
compared to 26.1% in 2021, a decrease 
of 20 basis points. It is also lower than 
the target set and whilst the underlying 
performance was strong, we were able 
to take the opportunity to provide 
additional investment in our assets at the 
expense of operating margin. Negative 
goodwill has been excluded from the 
operating surplus in 2021/22.

Performance

Our target for 2023 is 26.0%.

Target 

Around 87% of our operating surplus 
relates to social housing lettings. Our 
performance is 28.0% in 2022 which 
compares favourably to our peer group 
median, which is 26.0%. 

Performance

Our target for 2023 is 26.2%.

Target 

Our performance is 199% in 2022 
compared to 213% in 2021, mainly due to 
an increase of £6.3m in capitalised major 
repairs. Whilst the underlying 
performance was on target, we took the 
opportunity to provide additional 
investment in property assets. Negative 
goodwill has been excluded from the 
operating surplus in 2021/22.

Performance

Our target for 2023 is 200%.

Target 

Our social housing cost per unit has 
increased from £3,147 in 2021 to £3,519 in 
2022, mainly due to an increase in repairs 
as we recover from the pandemic, and 
additional investment in property assets. 
We have also seen increasing inflation on 
materials and utility costs. These costs 
also resulted in the target not being 
achieved.

Performance

Our target for 2023 is £3,645. The 
increase is due to an additional 
budgeted £6.5m on capitalised planned 
maintenance in 2023.

Target 
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Value for money (VFM) (continued)

Operating and 
financial review (continued) 

Rent collected as a percentage of annual rent debit

Current rent arrears net of housing benefit as a 
% of rent debit

Risk management

Effective risk management runs through everything that we 
do. We recognise that managing our risks and opportunities 
is a normal, day-to-day part of our business, enabling us to 
deliver our services, improve and grow. 

Over the past year, our risk management and business 
continuity frameworks have been tested as we have 
continued to respond to an ever-changing environment, 
including the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic, Brexit, and 
severe weather events. More recently we are seeing the 
impact of high inflation and the war in Ukraine on utility and 
material prices.

Our board oversees our risk management approach, set out 
in our risk management strategy. Once a year, the board 
takes a close look at our risk appetite statement, to make 
sure that this remains current and fit-for-purpose. Our board 
also receives regular updates on key risk areas, including 

health and safety, financial resilience, regulatory changes, 
and specific risks that might affect the continuity of the 
business. Risk is a key strand of our corporate and resource 
planning processes. 

Our Group Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for 
ensuring that all of our risks are well managed, that there are 
risk registers in place for key corporate risks and operational 
risks, and that there is a regular and effective system of 
assurance, including through our internal audit programme. 
Group Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for 
providing risk management updates to board, on a quarterly 
basis. 

All of our committees are involved in the scrutiny of our risks, 
with each committee taking responsibility for a selection of 
risks from the strategic risk register and reporting to Group 
Audit and Risk Committee on their findings. 

Our risk management approach

We have adopted a risk management approach that ensures 
that risks are identified in a consistent way, and, once 
accepted, are evaluated, controlled, monitored and 
managed. Risks can be identified in a number of ways, 

which includes strategic planning events, horizon scanning 
and sector monitoring, and through our own internal 
management processes

Current rent arrears net of housing benefit 
as a percentage of rent debit increased 
from 3.28% to 3.58% in 2022. This has been 
largely driven by increased pressure on 
household budgets as a result of the cost of 
living crisis. As customers face higher 
energy, food and other costs rent 
payments are more likely to be missed.  We 
continue to work with our customers to 
keep them informed of changes in relation 
to benefits and financial support schemes 
and we also provide access to support and 
money advice. In addition, we have 
established a cost of living working group 
to help increase awareness of our services 
and target resources at customers most in 
need.

Performance

Our target for 2023 is 3.46%.

Target 

Rent collected as a percentage of the
annual rent debit was broadly in line with 
the 2021 level, although slightly behind 
target at 99.44%. Customers continued 
to face financial challenges resulting 
from the pandemic and the ending of 
government support schemes such as 
furlough and increased rates of Universal 
Credit. During 2022/23 we will be 
undertaking a service review to enhance 
our approach to sustaining tenancies.

Performance

Our target for 2023 is 99.50%.

Target 

Respond and control
by transferring, treating, tolerating 
or terminating  the risks

Identify and define 
the risks or opportunities faced by 
the organisation

Monitor, gain  
assurance on and report  
the effectiveness of controls and 
the management of the risks

Assess and  
evaluate
the magnitude and priority of the 
risks

4.50%

4.00%

3.50%

3.00%

2.50%

2.00%

1.50%

1.00%

0.50%

0.00%
Actual 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2022 Target 2023Target 2022Actual 2021

Peer group median 3.46%

100.40%

100.20%

100.00%

99.80%

99.60%

99.40%

99.20%

99.00%

98.80%

96.60%

98.40%
Actual 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2022 Target 2023Target 2022Actual 2021

Peer group median 100.26%

Enabler - growth and financial strength
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Operating and 
financial review (continued) 

Assurance

We follow the three lines approach to assurance, which 
ensures separation of risk and control ownership (first line), 
oversight, support and challenge (second line) and audit 
assurance (third line). 

Operational teams use the risk management frameworks to 
help them manage risks in line with our defined risk appetite 
and through operational risk registers. Assurance is provided 
by the first line through its managerial and supervisory 
activities.

Our second line functions set the frameworks for managing 
risk and provide guidance and challenge to the first line 
through a newly introduced business partnering model. 
This is supported by risk and compliance deep dives and 
reporting, which gives assurance that risks are being 
managed in line with our risk appetite.

Internal audit provides independent, objective assurance to 
management and the board over the effectiveness of first 
and second lines and is independent of our executive 
management. This includes an agreed programme of 
reviews which highlight any areas where risks are not being 
managed within our appetite or where we may need to 
recalibrate our appetite in the context of internal and 
external changes.

Additional assurance is provided from external sources, such 
as external audit, technical specialists, and regulatory checks. 

Governance and control Risk appetite: Minimum

In our arrangements for managing the organisation at the 
highest level, including allocating resources and 
protecting assets, we seek to reduce corporate risk whilst 
accepting that more risk is occasionally inevitable.

Financial resilience Risk appetite: Cautious

In managing and maintaining financial capacity, we seek 
to accept risk to maintain a modest return on investment 
and continuous improvement of services to residents and 
communities. 

Value for money Risk appetite: Cautious

When we procure goods and services and in our overall 
use of resources, we seek to accept risk, to maintain a 
modest return on investment and continuously improving 
services to residents and communities.

Health and safety compliance Risk appetite: Averse

In meeting our compliance thresholds and in our 
approach to health and safety, we will seek to remove or 
reduce risk.

Regulatory compliance Risk appetite: Minimum

In meeting our compliance thresholds and in our 
approach to data protection, information governance and 
legislative and regulatory requirements we seek to reduce 
corporate risk whilst accepting that more risk is 
occasionally inevitable.

Development and  
asset management Risk appetite: Open

In our development of new homes and investment in 
existing homes we accept risk, to generate an improving 
return on our investments and improving our services to 
residents and communities.

Mergers and acquisitions Risk appetite: Open

We will be open to growth through joining with other 
providers, accepting risk to generate an improving return 
on our investments and continuously improving services 
to residents and communities.

Diversification and innovation Risk appetite: Open

We will be open to other forms of growth, changing 
service delivery methods and business transformation 
again, accepting risk to generate an improving return on 
our investments and continuously improving services to 
residents and communities.

Reputation Risk appetite: Cautious

We are keenly aware of reputational risk, our external 
profile and how we manage critical feedback. Our 
approach is cautious, seeking to accept risk, to maintain a 
modest return on investment and continuously improve 
services to residents and communities.

Technology Risk appetite: Open

This theme is about how we engage our ICT capability 
and digital media to deliver better services to our 
customers, ensuring that our ICT infrastructure is resilient. 
Our approach is open, seeking to accept risk to generate 
an improving return on investment and improving 
services to residents and communities.

People Risk appetite: Open

We are aware that the recruitment, retention and 
development of colleagues is key to our ability to deliver 
and develop services and maintain our resilience in a 
rapidly changing environment. We seek to accept risk to 
generate an improving return on investment and improve 
services to residents and communities.

Environmental sustainability Risk appetite: Open

In our approach to protecting the natural environment 
and resources, including decarbonisation and standards 
adopted in housing development and asset 
management, we seek to accept risk to generate an 
improving return on investment and improve services to 
residents and communities. We will take a cautious 
approach to adopting new technologies as these 
develop. 

Group Board and committees
Accountability to stakeholders for organisational oversight

Roles: Integrity, Leadership, Transparency

Management
Actions (including managing risk) to achieve organisational objectives

Internal audit
Independent assurance 

and advice

First line
Services to customers; 

managing risk; supporting 
functions (e.g. HR, Finance)

Second line
Expertise, support, monitoring, 

challenge on risk-related 
matters

Third line
Independent and objective 

assurance and advice on 
all matters related to the 

achievement of objectives

Risk appetite

Our board has agreed risk appetite statements for each of our key risk themes. These describe the type and amount of risk 
that we are prepared to accept or take as we deliver our strategy and plans and run day-to-day operations. Overall, our 
approach is balanced, ensuring that we carefully evaluate risks and opportunities, and guides our decisions accordingly. Our 
risk appetite is clearly stated in each of our board and committee reports.
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Operating and 
financial review (continued) 

Our principal risks

In addition to the principal risks set out below, we monitor 
operational and escalating risks and report these through 
the governance structures. Group Audit and Risk 
Committee receives reports on risks that are on the ‘watch’ 
list and receives updates on sector risks from the internal 
auditor. 

During 2021/2022 one of our escalating risks was within our 
supply chains and our dependency on third parties and 
counterparties to deliver our strategic objectives. Whilst we 
have experienced no major disruptions to date, this risk will 
be one of our key areas for monitoring and assurance in 
2022/2023.

Risk Response

Financial risks

Failure to adhere to financial golden rules or to 
comply with loan agreements leads to a breach, 
resulting in the organisation being vulnerable to 
the threat of repricing and being put into special 
measures.

We have a financial resilience framework and carry out regular stress 
testing sessions on the business plan with the board. We also have 
early warning indicators. We regularly monitor changes in our 
environment (such as higher than expected inflation) that might 
impact our golden rules and we carefully evaluate our investment 
decisions. 

Failure to maintain the resilience of our income 
streams and sufficiently mitigate the impact on the 
business and customers of welfare reform and 
other economic changes, resulting in a negative 
impact on our income and costs.

We work with our customers to keep them informed of changes 
and help them access support and benefits.  We continually 
monitor arrears and have an active management process. Our 
community-based teams actively support customers to seek and 
find employment opportunities. 

Existing pension schemes may become 
unaffordable due to benefits being paid out not 
being covered by new employees paying into the 
scheme.

We are continually monitoring our pension position and options, 
and have carried out a due diligence exercise. We have introduced a 
revised contributions policy following consultation and have 
introduced new pensions and salary sacrifice options for colleagues. 
We continue to work with our actuarial advisers on our pensions 
strategy. 

Failure to use resources economically, efficiently 
and effectively in the best interests of our 
stakeholders, leading to high costs, low 
performance, poor customer satisfaction and 
non-compliance with regulatory requirements.

We have developed and are implementing procurement and value 
for money strategies, with metrics. We have a contracts register and 
regularly review our framework of delegations.

Risk Response

Health and safety risks

Failure to maintain the continuity of our business 
and support our customers through the Covid-19 
pandemic, leading to a negative financial, 
compliance and reputational impact.

Early in the pandemic we established a Coronavirus Resilience 
Group to co-ordinate our responses across the business. This group 
has continued to meet throughout the course of 2021/2022, 
responding to changes as these have arisen. We developed a 
dashboard of indicators for monitoring including colleague 
absence, income and landlord compliance with health and safety.  
We have regularly updated our board and have maintained contact 
with our more vulnerable customers. 

Failure to meet compliance thresholds and to take 
an approach that maintains the health and safety 
of residents, colleagues and partners.

We carry out regular health and safety risk assessments and have 
updated all of our health and safety policies. Our corporate Health 
and Safety Group continues to meet monthly. Colleagues are 
regularly trained and we employ health and safety specialists to 
provide advice and guidance. We have introduced a specialist 
Building and Customer Safety post to our structure. Health and 
safety performance measures are monitored at executive and 
committee level. Updates are received at each group board 
meeting.

Risk Response

Regulation and compliance risks

Failure to maintain our cyber resilience and to 
secure and manage data in accordance with 
relevant regulations, particularly in light of the data 
protection legislation.

We carry out regular security maintenance of our systems and have 
a ‘patch’ management policy to implement security updates in a 
timely manner. We have an ICT Disaster Recovery Plan and actively 
manage our recovery systems. We handle large volumes of data 
some of which is confidential and sensitive. Our data protection 
policies and procedures and IT security are part of our management 
measures. All colleagues have received data protection training and 
we have a specialist data protection post.

Failure to comply with all statutory compliance and 
the Regulator of Social Housing’s Regulatory 
Framework.

We have a process of governance and compliance, supported by 
external advice where necessary. Our external governance review 
was carried out in late 2020/2021 and we are building on a strong 
basis by delivering an action plan, including changes to our Board 
and Committee Terms of Reference. An internal assurance process 
supported by internal audit provides the board with assurance, and 
the board also received an annual report on compliance with the 
regulatory standards. We have a project group working on the 
integration of changes associated with the Social Housing White 
Paper, and we have carried out a specific piece of assurance work 
around the rent standard.  
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Operating and 
financial review (continued) 

Risk Response

Development and asset management risks

Failure to meet the housing needs of a broad 
range of customers, across a range of tenures, to 
manage assets effectively, or to develop our 
approach to environmental sustainability and 
decarbonisation.

We have controls in place to mitigate programme, funding, market 
and asset management risks. Controls include a governance 
framework, access to sufficient funding, commercial skills at 
executive and board level and an effective asset management 
strategy. Our strategic approach to environmental sustainability and 
decarbonisation has developed through the course of the year and 
we have a Response to Climate Change project group. 

Growth and innovation risks

Failure to manage business growth and 
development effectively, whilst protecting 
assets.

We have a clearly defined strategic approach and criteria for 
appraising new opportunities and innovation and have skills and 
processes in place to ensure the effectiveness of business cases. 
There is strong board involvement in the process, and a robust legal 
and financial process of due diligence.

Counterparty risks

Failure to effectively manage contractors and 
supply chains, particularly in relation to our 
development programme and management of 
our assets.

We regularly monitor our exposure to contractors and aim to spread 
risk across a range of different contractors. We have regular 
partnership review meetings with contractors and monitor our 
programme completions carefully for quality and cost. We have a 
due diligence process in place for engagement of contractors on 
large schemes and have been reviewing our procurement 
processes. We have actively monitored our supply chains in the light 
of global events and have business continuity arrangements in 
place to mitigate impacts. 

People risks

Unable to recruit, retain and develop Karbon 
colleagues to ensure delivery of strategic 
objectives.

We regularly benchmark our salaries to ensure that we have a 
competitive remuneration strategy. We have developed our People 
Strategic Plan and are reviewing our Reward and Recognition 
package. We have a Colleague Engagement Plan and carry out 
regular surveys using the Hive platform, and ‘people’ elements form 
an important part of our Karbon Ways of Working project. We have 
a learning and development plan in place, and an online learning 
platform, which can be accessed by all colleagues. We have a 
colleague forum and engage with our trade union representatives 
through the Joint Consultative Committee. 

Statement of compliance

In preparing this Operating and Financial Review,  
the board has followed the principles set out  
in Part 3 of the Statement of Recommended  
Practice 2018. 

The board is pleased to present its report  
together with the audited financial  
statements of Karbon Homes Limited  
(the association) and Karbon Group  
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

23Karbon Homes Annual Review 2021/22 22



Report of the board

Principal activity 

Details of the group’s principal activities, its performance 
during the year and factors likely to affect its future 
developments are contained within the Operating and 
Financial Review, which precedes this report.

The board of Karbon Homes Limited 

The present board members and executive directors in 
place during the financial year are set out on page 24. They 
served throughout the year unless where indicated. 

During the year payments made to board members were 
£129.4k (2021: £138.2k), which were 0.08% (2021: 0.09%) of 
the annual turnover. The payment of Group Chairman and 
group board members is calculated by taking into account 
the size of the group and independent benchmarking. The 
board carries out an annual appraisal of its performance and 
an annual appraisal of individual board members. As the 
current Chairman was appointed on 1 May 2020 the 
appraisal took place in June 2021. It was carried out by the 
Vice Chair following feedback from both non-executive and 
executive directors.  

Executive directors

Whilst the group board is responsible for the group’s overall 
policy and strategy, management is delegated to the group 
Chief Executive. The executive directors are the senior 
management team and act as executives within the 
authority delegated by the board. They meet formally under 
the chairmanship of the Group Chief Executive in order to 
consider all major management issues. 

This meeting is a key decision-making forum for the 
management of the group, reviewing all proposed policy 
changes and performance. The executive directors hold no 
interest in the share capital of any member of the Karbon 
Group. The executive directors are employed on service 
contracts with the same terms as other staff, except for their 
notice periods which are six months. The executive directors 
are members of the Social Housing Pension Scheme. They 
participate in the scheme on the same terms as all other 
eligible staff and the group contributes to the scheme on 

behalf of its employees. The executive directors are entitled 
to other benefits such as the provision of a car or cash 
allowance and health care insurance. Details of their 
remuneration are included in note 10 to the audited financial 
statements.  

Corporate governance

The group board is committed to integrity and 
accountability in the stewardship of the group’s affairs. 
During the year, Karbon Homes complied with the NHF’s 
Code of Governance 2015 which it adopted because it is 
tailored to the housing sector and it is a widely recognised 
example of best practice. The group board received self-
assessments against the code in July 2021 and in July 2022, 
demonstrating full compliance. Following the outcome of its 
2020/21 Governance Review, the group board has adopted 
the NHF Code of Governance from 1 April 2022 and will 
report compliance with this code in 2023.

The group regularly reviews its governance arrangements 
including its committee structures. It also undertakes an 
annual assessment of governance, including roles, 
responsibilities and accountabilities of the group board, 
Chairman and Group Chief Executive and is satisfied that its 
arrangements are clear and effective. The Group Audit and 
Risk Committee has agreed a protocol with the external 
auditors, which sets out policies for determining what 
non-audit work can be undertaken by the external auditors 
and procedures for periodic review and selection of external 
auditors. The level of fees paid for this work is set out in note 
5 to the financial statements.  

Assurance was provided to the  group and York Housing 
Association boards in July 2022, following scrutiny by the 
Group Customer and Audit and Risk Committees, that the 
group continues to meet the regulatory standards. The 
regulator confirmed our rating of G1/V1, following Karbon’s 
second in-depth assessment, in June 2022. We maintain 
the highest rating of financial viability and governance.

Board
Chairman Sir David Bell KCB DL   
      
Vice Chair Alexis Cleveland (appointed 8 December 2021) 
 
 David Butler (retired 30 September 2021)  
      
Other Members Paul Fiddaman  
 Anne Mulroy  
 Adrian Stanley  
 Stephen Spill   
 Michael Mullaney   
 Sarah Salter   
 Hanif Malik   
 Stephen Secker   
 Gill Moy (appointed 1 October 2021)  
 Neil Revely (appointed 1 October 2021)  
 Julie Taylor (resigned 30 April 2021)  
      
Executive Directors      
Group Chief Executive Paul Fiddaman   
Executive Director of Resources Scott Martin   
Executive Director of Growth and Business Development Charlotte Carpenter   
Executive Director of Customer Services Ian Johnson (appointed 1 May 2022)   
 Josephine Ray (resigned 31 May 2022)  

Executive Director of Governance and Integration Richard Fryer 

Managing Director York Housing Association Julia Histon  

      

Registered office Number Five   
 Gosforth Park Avenue   
 Gosforth Business Park   
 Newcastle upon Tyne NE12 8EG  

Registered number A Registered Society under Co-operative and Community  
 Benefits Societies Act 2014; No: 7529  
 Registered with the Regulator of Social Housing; No. 4846

Auditors Beever and Struthers   
 St. George’s House, 215-219 Chester Road   
 Manchester M15 4JE  

Solicitors Womble Bond Dickinson (UK) LLP   
 St Ann’s Wharf, 112 Quayside   
 Newcastle upon Tyne NE1 3DX   

Principal Bankers NatWest (Part of Royal Bank of Scotland Group)  
 2nd Floor  
 1 Trinity Gardens  
 Broadchare  
 Newcastle upon Tyne NE1 2HF  

BOARD MEMBERS, EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, ADVISORS AND BANKERS
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Report of the board 
(continued)

Group Remuneration and  
Nominations Committee

This is a non-executive committee. It has the responsibility 
for overseeing the group’s remuneration policies and 
recommends the annual staff pay award to the group board. 
It also ensures the group has a transparent approach to the 
appointment of board members and advises the board on 
the remuneration and terms and conditions of the Group 
Chief Executive and other executive directors after taking 
external advice. The executive directors are not present at 
the meeting when their salaries are determined. The 
committee met three times during the year. 

Group Audit and Risk Committee

The Group Audit and Risk Committee is a non-executive 
committee, ensuring appointment of independent internal 
and external auditors, addressing internal and external audit 
issues, scrutinising areas of risk and assurance, and advising 
the board on risk management policies and processes. It 
also considers the financial statements and recommends 
their approval by board. The committee met five times 
during the year.

Group Development Committee 

The Group Development Committee is a non-executive 
committee that advises the group board on the group’s 
development strategy, ensuring that the group’s approach 
to capital investment is co-ordinated, challenging and 
dynamic. It also considers, approves and oversees the 
group’s development programme in accordance with the 
framework set out by the group board. The committee met 
four times during the year. 

Group Performance Committee 

The Group Performance Committee is a non-executive 
committee and is responsible for reviewing the financial and 
service performance of the group. It is also responsible for 
overseeing customer experience and engagement, and for 
making recommendations to the group board on material 
matters relating to how services are delivered to residents.  
The committee met five times during the year. 

Chairs’ Committee 

The Chairs’ Committee comprises the Group Chair, the Chair 
of York Housing Association and the chairs of the 
committees outlined above. The committee assists with the 
effective communication and co-ordination of the group’s 
various committees. The committee met four times during 
the year. 

Byker Community Trust Committee

The Byker Community Trust (BCT) Committee was 
established after the transfer of engagements between 
Karbon and Byker on the 1 April 2021. The committee 
includes Karbon non-executive and executive members, as 
well as independent members, tenants and residents from 
the Byker Estate and representatives from Newcastle City 
Council. It has the responsibility of overseeing the delivery 
of the Community Pledge and Business Case agreed 
between Karbon and Byker, monitoring of the level and 
quality of services provided to the residents of the Byker 
Estate and of the investment programme, and overseeing 
the delivery of community initiatives. The committee met 
four times during the year.

Internal controls assurance 

The group board is the ultimate governing body and is 
responsible for establishing and maintaining the whole 
system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness 
across the group.

The system of internal control is designed to manage, rather 
than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives, and to provide reasonable, and not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The process for identifying, evaluating, and managing the 
significant risks faced by the group is ongoing and has been 
in place throughout the period commencing 1 April 2021 up 
to the date of approval of the report and financial 
statements.

Corporate role of the board

For the financial year 2021/22 the board comprised up to 12 
board members.  The board currently has 12 members 
including the Group Chief Executive. Terms of reference 
were issued to the board. Board members acted in the 
interest of the Karbon Group and not on behalf of any other 
interest group. 

The group board was drawn from a wide background and 
its members were selected to ensure that they bring 
relevant experience, skills and understanding to the 
discussions and decision-making process of the board.

Each subsidiary had a board of directors chosen for their 
specific area of expertise together with appointees to 
provide strong channels of communication with the group 
board.

The group board met formally six times during the year. 
These meetings were complemented by regular strategy 
sessions that considered fire safety, decarbonisation, 
equality, diversity and inclusion, financial planning, 
regulatory changes, and risk profile and culture. The 
executive directors also attended group board meetings.

Reporting to the board were the Group Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee, the Group Audit and Risk 
Committee, the Group Development Committee, the 
Group Performance Committee, the Chair’s Committee and 
the Byker Community Trust Committee (from April 2021). 
The summary terms of reference for the committees follow 
and the membership, drawn from the board membership 
of the group’s, associations and independent committee 
members, is shown in the table below:

Group 
Remuneration and 
Nominations 
Committee

Group Audit and 
Risk Committee

Group 
Development 
Committee

Group 
Performance 
Committee 

Chairs’ 
Committee

Byker 
Community Trust 
Committee

Sarah Salter (C) Stephen Spill (C) Adrian Stanley (C) Hanif Malik (C) Sir David Bell (C) Anne Mulroy (C)

Sir David Bell KCB DL Michael Mullaney Anne Mulroy Anne Mulroy Sarah Salter Nigel Emmerson

Alexis Cleveland Alexis Cleveland Michael Mullaney Sarah Salter Stephen Spill Caroline Prince

Stephen Spill Gill Moy Neil Revely Alexis Cleveland Adrian Stanley Anthony Itiat

 Stephen Secker Carol McTaggart 
(YHA)

Gill Moy Hanif Malik Nicola Snowdon

 Peter Rudge (YHA) Michael Pattison 
(ICM)

Steven 
Waddington 
(YHA)

Anne Mulroy Stephen Sheraton

  Robert Armstrong 
(ICM)

Michael Lisle 
(ICM)*

Stephen Secker 
(YHA)

Geoff O’Brien

   Ann Potts (ICM)*  Lisa French

     Veronica Dunn

     Amanda Senior

     Ian Johnson*

C – Chair; YHA – York Housing Association; ICM – Independent Committee Member;* member joined committee since 31 March 2022

Board member profiles are available on the Karbon Homes website at www.karbonhomes.co.uk within the About Us, Who we are,  

Our Board section.
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Report of the board 
(continued)

applicable laws). Under the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014 the directors must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and surplus or 
deficit of the group for that period.

In preparing those financial statements the board is required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and apply them 
consistently

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent

• state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards and the Statement of Recommended Practice 
2018, have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements 

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis 
unless it is appropriate to presume that the group will not 
continue in business.

The board is responsible for keeping and maintaining 
proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the group and 
association and enable it to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies (Group Accounts) Regulations 1969, the 
Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting 
Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 
2022. It is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The board is responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the corporate and financial information included on the 
association’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

 Post balance sheet events

When approving the financial statements the board is 
required to make an assessment of the group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. In doing this the board is 
required to consider all available information about the 
future, which is at least but not limited to, 12 months from 
the date when the financial statements are approved and 
signed. 

In May 2022, the boards of York Housing Association (YHA), 
Leeds and Yorkshire Housing Association (LYHA) and Karbon 
Homes approved an outline business case to bring about a 
merger by a transfer of engagements of LYHA into YHA. 

Subject to due diligence and further approvals from the 
board and shareholders, it is expected that completion will 
take place by the end of 2022. At this point all LYHA assets, 
liabilities, operations, and contractual positions will transfer 
to YHA.

Going concern

After making enquiries, the Karbon Homes Board has a 
reasonable expectation that the group has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future, being a period of at least 12 months after 
the date on which the report and financial statements are 
signed. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in the financial statements.

Future developments

A key influence on the timing of borrowings is the rate at 
which development activity takes place. The Karbon Board 
has approved plans to spend £135.6m during the next 
financial year developing and acquiring additional homes 
and £65.7m will be spent on planned and responsive 
maintenance. £2.9m of this investment will be funded 
through new borrowings, £30.9m through social housing 
and other grant, and the balance from existing cash and 
operational cash flows. 

The group has sufficient funds to meet its requirements for 
the next 12 months from the date of this report. 

External auditors

Beever and Struthers are willing to remain in office and a 
resolution to re-appoint them as auditors to the group was 
approved by the board on 20 July 2022. 

Approval

The Report of the Board was approved by the board on  
20 July 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

R Fryer 
Company Secretary 

Internal controls assurance (continued)

Key elements of the control framework include:

• group board approved terms of reference and delegated 
authorities for Group Audit and Risk Committee

• clearly defined management responsibilities for the 
identification, evaluation, and control of significant risks, 
within a well-defined risk management framework

• robust strategic, financial planning, stress testing and 
resilience planning processes, with detailed financial 
budgets and forecasts

• formal recruitment, retention, training and development 
policies for all staff

• established authorisation and appraisal procedures for all 
significant new initiatives and commitments, with a tried 
and tested due diligence process

• a sophisticated approach to treasury management

• regular reporting on covenant compliance, financial 
golden rules and compliance with regulatory 
requirements associated with listed status

• regular reporting to the board or committees on key 
business objectives, targets, and outcomes

• reporting to board on significant incidents that may affect 
the continuity of the business and an annual update on 
business continuity and incident management to the 
Group Audit and Risk Committee 

• board-approved whistleblowing (speak out) and anti-
theft, corruption, bribery, and fraud policies

• reporting of company registers to Group Audit and Risk 
Committee, with regular reporting of specific items of 
note within the registers

• standing reports to the Group Audit and Risk Committee 
on the progress of action plans developed to remedy any 
weaknesses and to implement recommendations from 
both the internal and external auditors

• fraud register reviewed annually at the Group Audit and 
Risk Committee meeting and new entries reported 
separately

• annual self-assessments against the Regulatory 
Framework and Code of Governance, reported to group 
board

The Regulator of Social Housing requires incidents of fraud 
and loss to be reported on an annual basis, by September of 
each year for the previous financial year. There has been one 
instance of theft during 2021/22, which was reported to the 
Group Audit and Risk Committee in April 2022 and will be 
reported to the Regulator by September 2022. This was an 
internal theft. An investigation and disciplinary action were 
undertaken, and actions put in place to reduce the risk of 
future incidents. 

The group board cannot delegate ultimate responsibility for 
the system of internal control, but it can, and has, delegated 
authority to the Group Audit and Risk Committee to 
regularly review the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control. The board receives quarterly reports from the 
Group Audit and Risk Committee together with minutes of 
Group Audit and Risk Committee meetings.

The Group Audit and Risk Committee has received the 
Group Chief Executive’s annual review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control for the association and its 
subsidiaries, and the annual report of the internal auditors, 
and has reported its findings to the group board.

Statement of the responsibilities of the 
board for the Report and Financial 
Statements

The board is responsible for preparing the report and 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations.

The Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 requires the board to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year. Under the legislation, the directors have 
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and 
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Housing property additions 

The risk – significant risk high value  
The group’s additions to properties under construction total 
£48.7m as at 31 March 2022 (2021: £32.9m). Refer to pages 
43, 45 - 46 and 47 (accounting policies) and page 80 
(financial disclosures).

Development is a key activity for the group. This, alongside 
judgements as to whether expenditure is capital or revenue 
in nature, is an area that we feel had a key impact on our 
overall audit approach. Our overall assessment of 
misstatement is therefore that housing property additions is 
a significant risk within our audit approach. 

Our response
Our procedures included:

•  Controls testing: Evaluating the procedure and review 
process for development appraisals, including key 
assumptions used. 

•  Test of detail: We agreed a sample of capital additions 
in the year to invoice or certificate.

•  Review against accounting standards: We reviewed 
amounts capitalised in our sample testing versus 
guidance in FRS 102 and the Statement of 
Recommended Practice 2018. 

•  Test of detail: We considered Karbon Homes’ 
assessment of whether there was any evidence of 
impairment, in particular, for schemes under 
development.

•  Test of detail: We confirmed that accruals have been 
made for material development expenditure incurred 
up to 31 March 2022 but not yet invoiced.

Our results
Based on the audit procedures performed, we found the 
capitalisation of development costs to be acceptable.

Financial performance, treasury 
management and loan covenants

The risk – significant risk high value
The group posted a full year surplus of £35.6m before 
actuarial gains on pension schemes (refer to page 36 
(financial disclosures)).  At 31 March 2022 the group had 
borrowings of £466.8m (refer to page 94 (financial 
disclosures)).  

The group is operating in a current economic outlook that is 
volatile, uncertain and complex with rising inflation in the 
UK. There is a direct impact on the group’s activities and a 
growing cost of living crisis that directly affects the group’s 
tenants and residents. This implies a direct risk to the group’s 
ability to maintain income collection rates and increases the 
risk of arrears and bad debts. Stress testing business plans 
can illustrate the level of financial resilience and the group’s 
ongoing capability to manage sequences of negative 
events.

The risk is that the group might have insufficient liquidity to 
finance its development programme or might breach a 
funding covenant set out within the agreements in place 
with a range of funders.

Our response
Our procedures included the following:

•  Confirmation of value: Agreed loan balances to the 
accounting records and to external confirmation from 
the funders. 

•  Test of detail: We tested the detailed calculations for 
loan covenant compliance prepared by management, 
both for the year ended 31 March 2022 and projected 
future performance. 

•  Review of business plan: We have reviewed the group’s 
long term financial plans and covenant projections, and 
the underlying assumptions, to assess the group’s ability 
to service and repay the debt, including the availability 
of funding.

•  Review of stress testing: We have reviewed the stress 
testing of the business plan and considered the 
potential impact on the financial statements, as well as 
on the group’s financial viability into the foreseeable 
future and its status as a going concern. 

•  Disclosure: Evaluated the disclosures in the financial 
statements with regard to going concern.

Our results
The group’s 30-year financial plan is forecast to retain 
compliance with banking covenants and also estimates that 
its performance will allow it to retain a single A rating from 
S&P Global.  The group has applied a range of stress testing 
scenarios to the financial plan, including those linked to 
macro-economic conditions.

 
 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Karbon Homes 
Limited (the association) and its subsidiaries (the group) for 
the year ended 31 March 2022 which comprise the 
Consolidated and Association Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, the Consolidated and Association Statement of 
Financial Position, the Consolidated and Association 
Statement of Changes in Reserves, the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows and the notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies in note 2. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 
“The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and 
of the association’s affairs as at 31 March 2022 and of the 
group’s income and expenditure and the association’s 
income and expenditure for the year then ended;

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and

•  have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies (Group Accounts) 
Regulations 1969, the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 2022.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and 
appropriate basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion is 
consistent with our report to the Group Audit and Risk 
Committee.

We were first appointed as auditor of Karbon Homes 
Limited by the board for the period ending 31 March 2015. 
The period of total uninterrupted engagement for the 
group is for eight financial years ending 31 March 2022.   
We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and we 
remain independent of the association in accordance with, 
UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard 
as applied to listed public interest entities. No non-audit 
services prohibited by that standard were provided.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that 
the board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not 
identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast 
significant doubt on the association’s or group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a period of at least 12 
months from when the financial statements are authorised 
for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the board 
with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and include the 
most significant assessed risks of material misstatement 
(whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those 
which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, 
the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the 
efforts of the engagement team. We summarise below the 
key audit matters in arriving at our audit opinion above, 
together with our key audit procedures to address these 
matters and, as required for public interest entities, our 
results from those procedures. These matters were 
addressed, and our results are based on procedures 
undertaken, in the context of, and solely for the purpose of, 
our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and consequently are 
incidental to that opinion, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.  

Independent auditor’s report to the 
members of Karbon Homes Limited
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•  Confirmation of value: We agreed the year end 
valuations to reports from independent valuers, which 
included an assessment of key assumptions used in the 
valuation.  We considered and compared the overall 
movement from the prior year versus the movement in 
available market indices, to assess reasonableness.

•  Confirmation of reporting: We agreed the relevant 
accounting entries and reviewed the disclosures and the 
notes to the accounts to ensure they comply with 
Section 16 of FRS 102.

Our results
Our audit work concluded that investment properties are 
reasonably stated at fair value at 31 March 2022.

Our application of materiality and an 
overview of the scope of the audit

The materiality applied to the group for the year ending 31 
March 2022 is based on 1.5% of turnover, being £2.3m (2021: 
2% of turnover, being £2.8m). The materiality applied to the 
association approximates to that of the group.

We consider turnover to be the most appropriate 
benchmark, and more appropriate than a profit-based 
benchmark, as Karbon Homes Limited is a not-for-profit 
organisation that reinvests all surpluses generated from its 
activities within the group and does not make any 
distributions of profit to external parties.

We set performance materiality at an amount less than 
materiality to reduce the probability that the aggregate of 
uncorrected misstatements exceeds materiality for the 
financial statements as a whole.  We used 75% as the 
performance materiality threshold, being £1.7m (2021: 
£2.1m).

We agreed to report to the Group Audit and Risk 
Committee any corrected or uncorrected identified 
misstatements exceeding £113k (2021: £139k), in addition to 
other identified misstatements that warranted reporting on 
qualitative grounds.

Of the group’s reporting components, we subjected all to 
full scope audits for group purposes.  The work on all 
components, including the audit of the parent association, 
was performed by the group team.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report, other than the financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon. The board is responsible for the 
other information. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or 
apparent material misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we are required to
report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 or the Housing and 
Regeneration Act 2008 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:

•  the association has not maintained a satisfactory system 
of control over transactions; or

•  the association has not kept proper accounting records; 
or

•  the association’s financial statements are not in 
agreement with books of account; or

•  we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of the board

As explained more fully in the Statement of the 
responsibilities of the board for the Report and Financial 

Based on the work we have performed; we have not 
identified any material uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt on the group’s or association’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a period of at least 12 months from when 
the financial statements were authorised for issue.  We are 
therefore satisfied with management’s assessment that the 
group will remain a going concern. 

Defined benefit pension schemes
The risk – significant risk medium value
The group participates in the following multi-employer, 
defined benefit pension schemes:

• The Social Housing Pension Scheme.

• The Tyne and Wear Pension Scheme, a local government  
 defined benefit pension scheme.

• The Durham County Council Pension Fund, also a local   
 government defined benefit pension scheme.

The pension scheme assets and liabilities are valued for 
Section 28 FRS 102 purposes and the financial statements 
disclose the net liability and the assumptions used by the 
group in completing the valuation of the pension deficit and 
the movements in the year.  The scheme liability requires a 
calculation which uses a number of assumptions and 
variations in these assumptions could significantly affect the 
liability. 

The effect of these matters is that we determined that the 
defined benefits pension scheme obligation has a high 
degree of estimation uncertainty. 

At 31 March 2022, the group’s results showed a pension 
liability of £24.4m (2021: £40.9m). Refer to pages 43 and 45 
(accounting policies) and pages 61-76 (financial disclosures).

Our response
Our procedures included the following:

•  Assessing the credentials of the schemes’ actuaries: 
We reviewed the credentials of the schemes’ actuaries 
to assess that they are one of the small number of 
experienced, skilled advisors appointed to undertake 
the pension scheme valuations, as we place reliance on 
their valuation. 

•  Confirmation of value: We challenged, with the 
support of our own actuarial expert, the key 
assumptions and actuarial methodology applied to 
calculate the liability, including the discount rate, 
inflation rate and mortality/life expectancy to ensure 
they are consistent with wider sector expectations and 
that the sensitivity of the liability to changes in certain 
assumptions is adequately disclosed.

•  Confirmation of methodology: We reviewed the 
central SHPS FRS 102 calculation methodology and the 
central assurance methodology.

•  Assessment of asset values: We reviewed the split of 
assets held in the scheme and movements in the asset 
valuations.

•  Confirmation of reporting: We agreed the relevant 
accounting entries and reviewed the disclosures and the 
notes to the accounts to ensure they comply with 
Section 28 of FRS 102.

Our results
We confirmed that the assumptions used in the calculation 
of the balances in the financial statements are within 
reasonable parameters and are in line with the 
recommendations of the schemes’ actuaries. Our audit work 
concluded that pension disclosures and liabilities are 
reasonably stated at 31 March 2022.

Investment properties

The risk – significant risk medium value
At 31 March 2022, the group held £47.3m of investment 
properties (2021: £45.6m).  Refer to pages 43 and 46 
(accounting policies) and page 85 (financial disclosures).

Investment properties are required to be stated at fair value 
at each reporting date. The group instructs independent 
valuers to assist in this exercise, which involves a degree of 
judgement and estimation. Therefore, we have determined 
that this area has a high degree of estimation uncertainty.

Our response
Our procedures included the following:

•  Assessing the credentials of the investment property 
valuers: We reviewed the credentials of the valuers to 
assess that they are sufficiently experienced and 
qualified to undertake the valuation. 

Independent auditor’s report to the 
members of Karbon Homes Limited
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Statements set out on pages 28-29, the board is responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the board determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the board is 
responsible for assessing the group’s and the association’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the board either 
intends to liquidate the group or the association or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was
considered capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and 
then design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, including obtaining audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

In identifying and addressing risks of material misstatement 
in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-
compliance with laws and regulations, our procedures 
included the following:

•  We obtained an understanding of laws and regulations 
that affect the group and association, focusing on those 
that had a direct effect on the financial statements or 
that had a fundamental effect on its operations. Key laws 
and regulations that we identified included the Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, 
the Statement of Recommended Practice for registered 
housing providers: Housing SORP 2018, the Housing 
and Regeneration Act 2008, the Accounting Direction 
for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 2022, 
tax legislation, health and safety legislation, and 
employment legislation.

•  We enquired of the board and reviewed 
correspondence and board meeting minutes for 
evidence of non-compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations. We also reviewed controls the board have 
in place, where necessary, to ensure compliance.

•  We gained an understanding of the controls that the 
board have in place to prevent and detect fraud. We 
enquired of the board about any incidences of fraud 
that had taken place during the accounting period.

•  The risk of fraud and non-compliance with laws and 
regulations was discussed within the audit team and 
tests were planned and performed to address these 
risks. We identified the potential for fraud in the 
following areas: laws related to the construction and 
provision of social housing recognising the regulated 
nature of the association’s activities.

•  We reviewed financial statements disclosures and tested 
to supporting documentation to assess compliance with 
relevant laws and regulations discussed above.

•  We enquired of the board about actual and potential 
litigation and claims.

•  We performed analytical procedures to identify any 
unusual or unexpected relationships that might indicate 
risks of material misstatement due to fraud.

•  In addressing the risk of fraud due to management 
override of internal controls we tested the 
appropriateness of journal entries and assessed whether 
the judgements made in making accounting estimates 
were indicative of a potential bias.

Due to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an 
unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some 
material misstatements in the financial statements, even 
though we have properly planned and performed our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards.  For example, as with 
any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of 
irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal controls. We are not responsible for preventing 
fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations and 
cannot be expected to detect all fraud and non-compliance 
with laws and regulations.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the association, in accordance 
with section 87 of the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014 and Section 128 of the Housing and 
Regeneration Act 2008. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the association those 
matters we are required to state to it in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the association for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed.

Beever and Struthers 
Statutory Auditor 
St George’s House 
215-219 Chester Road 
Manchester 
M15 4JE

Date: 
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Financial statementsFinancial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 March 2022

Note 2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Turnover 3  155,186  142,400 

Cost of sales 3  (8,857)  (11,846)

Operating expenditure 3  (106,149)  (93,414)

Negative goodwill 3/31  8,561  - 

Surplus on sale of housing properties 6  3,809  1,617 

Operating surplus 5  52,550  38,757 

Deficit on sale of property, plant and equipment – other fixed assets  (71)  - 
        
Interest receivable and other income 7  300  211 
Interest payable and similar charges 8  (19,003)  (18,760)
Other finance costs   (905)  (641)
Unrealised gain on revaluation of investment properties 14  2,740  2,794 
Share of operating deficit in associate 16  -  (67)

Surplus before taxation  35,611  22,294 

Tax on surplus on ordinary activities 11  102  (198)
                                    

Surplus for the financial year 32  35,713  22,096 

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension schemes 9  19,164  (13,177)

Total comprehensive income for the year  54,877  8,919 

The consolidated results relate to continuing and acquired activities.

The notes on pages 43 to 104 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue and approved by the Karbon Homes Board on 20 July 2022 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Sir David Bell KCB DL
Chairman

Alexis Cleveland
Vice Chair

Richard Fryer
Company Secretary

ASSOCIATION STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 March 2022

Note 2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Turnover 3  150,684  138,783 

Cost of sales 3  (11,289)  (15,150)

Operating expenditure 3  (101,825)  (88,936)

Negative goodwill 3/31  8,561  - 

Surplus on sale of housing properties 6  3,492  1,632 

Operating surplus 5  49,623  36,329 

Deficit on sale of property, plant and equipment – other fixed assets  (71)  - 
        
Interest receivable and other income 7  1,280  1,290 
Interest payable and similar charges 8  (18,045)  (17,786)
Other finance costs   (876)  (622)
Unrealised gain on revaluation of investment properties 14  1,378  373 
Share of operating deficit in associate 16  -  (67)

Surplus before taxation  33,289  19,517

Tax on surplus on ordinary activities 11  (11)  (147)
                                    

Surplus for the financial year 32  33,278  19,370 

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension schemes 9  18,974  (12,537)

Total comprehensive income for the year  52,252  6,833 

The association’s results relate wholly to continuing activities.

The notes on pages 43 to 104 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue and approved by the Karbon Homes Board on 20 July 2022  
and signed on its behalf by:

Sir David Bell KCB DL
Chairman

Alexis Cleveland
Vice Chair

Richard Fryer
Company Secretary
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Financial statements Financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 March 2022

Note 2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Housing properties at cost less depreciation 12  994,618  917,202 
Other tangible fixed assets 13  12,192  11,794 
Investment properties 14  47,325  45,570 
HomeBuy loans receivable 15  184  200 
Investment in associate 16  -  - 

 1,054,319  974,766 

Current assets
Properties for sale 18  2,052  3,163 
Deferred asset 19  -  7,500 
Consumable stock  815  784 
Debtors due within one year 20  15,443  11,623 
Debtors due after one year 21  4,585  4,689 
Investments 22  93,352  84,319 
Cash and cash equivalents  30,135  62,570 

 146,382  174,648 
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 23  (60,693)  (45,148)

Net current assets  85,689  129,500

Total assets less current liabilities  1,140,008  1,104,266

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 24  (486,434)  (501,669)
Deferred grants 27  (284,695)  (272,742)
Provision for liabilities and charges 29 (1,855)  (1,186)
Pension liability 9  (24,403)  (40,925)

(797,387)  (816,522)

Total net assets 342,621  287,744

Capital and reserves
Non-equity share capital 30  -  - 
Restricted reserve 32  450  450 
Revenue reserve 32 342,171  287,294 

Consolidated funds 32 342,621  287,744 

The notes on pages 43 to 104 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue and approved by the Karbon Homes Board on 20 July 2022 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Sir David Bell KCB DL
Chairman

Alexis Cleveland
Vice Chair

Richard Fryer
Company Secretary

ASSOCIATION STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 March 2022

Note 2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Housing properties at cost less depreciation 12  927,223  853,950 
Other tangible fixed assets 13  10,070  10,326 
Investment properties 14  16,841  15,670 
HomeBuy loans receivable 15  184  200 
Investment in associate 16  -  - 

 954,318  880,146 

Current assets
Properties for sale 18  1,918  2,934 
Deferred asset 19  -  7,500 
Consumable stock  815  784 
Debtors due within one year 20  17,075  11,059 
Debtors due after one year 21  22,615  24,471 
Investments 22  93,142  84,098 
Cash and cash equivalents  27,364  58,096 

 162,929  188,942 
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 23  (57,350)  (41,706)

Net current assets  105,579  147,236

Total assets less current liabilities  1,059,897 1,027,382

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 24  (462,235)  (477,373)
Deferred grants 27  (265,131)  (254,790)
Provision for liabilities and charges 29  (1,845)  (1,177)
Pension liability 9  (23,620)  (39,825)

 (752,831)  (773,165)

Total net assets  307,066  254,217

Capital and reserves
Non-equity share capital 30  -  - 
Restricted reserve 32  450  450 
Revenue reserve 32  306,616  253,767 

Consolidated funds 32  307,066  254,217 

The notes on pages 43 to 104 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue and approved by the Karbon Homes Board on 20 July 2022 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Sir David Bell KCB DL
Chairman

Alexis Cleveland
Vice Chair

Richard Fryer
Company Secretary
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES
At 31 March 2022

Income  and 
expenditure 

reserve
Restricted 

reserve Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 1 April 2020  278,375  450  278,825

Surplus for the year  22,096  -  22,096
Actuarial loss on pension scheme  (13,177)  -  (13,177)
Balance at 31 March 2021  287,294  450  287,744

 
Surplus for the year  35,713  -  35,713
Actuarial gain on pension scheme  19,164  -  19,164 
Balance at 31 March 2022 342,171  450 342,621 

The notes on pages 43 to 104 form part of these financial statements.

ASSOCIATION STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES
At 31 March 2022

Income  and 
expenditure 

reserve
Restricted 

reserve Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 1 April 2020  246,802  450  247,252 

Gift Aid  132  -  132 
Surplus for the year  19,370  -  19,370 
Actuarial loss on pension scheme  (12,537)  -  (12,537)
Balance at 31 March 2021  253,767  450  254,217 

 

Gift Aid  597  -  597 
Surplus for the year 33,278  - 33,278
Actuarial gain on pension scheme  18,974  -  18,974 
Balance at 31 March 2022  306,616  450  307,066 

The notes on pages 43 to 104 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
2022 2021

£’000 £’000
Net cash generated from operating activities (See Note 35)  63,865  63,004

Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase and construction of housing properties  (66,736)  (62,095)
Works to existing properties capitalised  (20,272)  (14,012)
Purchase of other fixed assets  (2,069)  (1,065)
Sale of housing properties 7,879  4,394 
Payments to local authorities re sale of properties  (233)  (441)
Sale of other fixed assets  75  45 
Social housing grant received  19,393  8,269 
Interest received  771  469 

(61,192)  (64,436)

Cash flow from financing activities

Interest paid  (19,675)  (18,510)
New secured loans  8,400  122,739 
Repayment of HomeBuy loan  16  45 
Repayment of borrowings  (19,658)  (6,849)
Acquisition  - cash and investments  4,842  - 
Money market and investment movements  (9,033)  (55,651)

 (35,108)  41,774 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (32,435)  40,342 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  62,570  22,228 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  30,135  62,570 

The notes on pages 43 to 104 form part of these financial statements.

1. Legal status
The association is a Registered Society in England 
under the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014 and is registered as a housing 
provider with the Regulator for Social Housing. The 
registered office is Number Five, Gosforth Park 
Avenue, Gosforth Business Park, Newcastle upon Tyne, 
NE12 8EG.

2. Accounting policies
Basis of accounting
The financial statements of the group and association 
are prepared in accordance with the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies (Group Regulations) 
1969, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008, the 
Statement of Recommended Practice 2018 and 
comply with the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 2022. 

The accounts are prepared on the historical basis of 
accounting modified to include certain items at fair 
value, and are presented in sterling £000s for the year 
ended 31 March 2022.

The group’s financial statements have been prepared 
in compliance with FRS 102. The group meets the 
definition of a Public Benefit Entity.

Going concern
The group’s business activities, its current financial 
position, and factors likely to affect its future 
development are set out within the Operating and 
Financial Review. The group has in place long-term 
debt facilities which provide adequate resources to 
finance committed reinvestment and development 
programmes, along with the group’s day-to-day 
operations. The group also has a long-term business 
plan which shows that it is able to service these debt 
facilities whilst continuing to comply with its lenders’ 
covenants. 

Basis of consolidation
The group accounts consolidate the accounts of the 
association and its subsidiaries at 31 March each year.

Judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty
The preparation of the financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for 
assets and liabilities as at the date of the Statement of 
Financial Position and the amounts reported for 
revenues and expenses during the year. However, the 
nature of estimation means that actual outcomes could 
differ from those estimates. The following judgements 

(apart from those involving estimates) have had the 
most significant effect on amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

a. Development expenditure: The group 
capitalises development expenditure in 
accordance with the accounting policy described 
on page 45. Initial capitalisation of costs is based 
on management’s judgement when a 
development scheme is confirmed, usually when 
board approval has taken place. In determining 
whether a project is likely to cease, management 
monitors the development and considers if 
changes have occurred that result in impairment. 

b. Categorisation of housing properties: The 
group has undertaken a detailed review of the 
intended use of all housing properties. In 
determining the intended use, the group has 
considered if the asset is held for social benefit or 
to earn commercial rentals. 

c. Impairment: Reviews for impairment of housing 
properties are carried out when a trigger has 
occurred and any impairment loss in a cash 
generating unit is recognised by a charge to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
Impairment is recognised where the carrying 
value of a cash generating unit exceeds the 
higher of its net realisable value or its value in use. 
A cash generating unit is normally a group of 
properties at scheme level whose cash income 
can be separately identified.

d. Pensions:  The cost of defined benefit pension 
plans are determined using actuarial valuations. 
The actuarial valuation involves making 
assumptions about discount rates, future salary 
increase, mortality rates and future pension 
increases. Due to the complexity of the valuation, 
the underlying assumptions and the long-term 
nature of these plans, such estimates are subject 
to significant uncertainty. Further details are given 
in note 9. 

e.  Revaluation of investment properties: The 
group carries its investment properties at market 
values, with changes in market value being 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. The group engages independent 
valuation specialists to determine market values 
at the reporting period date. The valuers used a 
valuation technique based on a discounted cash 
flow model. Further details are given in note 14. 
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Other key sources of estimation and assumption:
a. Tangible fixed assets: Other than investment 

properties, tangible fixed assets are depreciated 
over their useful lives taking into account residual 
values, where appropriate. The actual lives of the 
assets and residual values are assessed annually 
and may vary depending on a number of factors. 
In re-assessing asset lives, factors such as product 
life cycles and maintenance programmes are 
taken into account. Residual value assessments 
consider issues such as future market conditions, 
the remaining life of the asset and projected 
disposal values.

b. Amortisation of gap funding: Gap funding is 
amortised over the useful economic life of the 
components.

c. Amortisation of social housing and other 
government grants: Social housing and other 
government grants are amortised over the useful 
economic life of the structure of the housing 
properties.  

Turnover and revenue recognition
Turnover comprises rental income receivable in the 
year, amortised capital grant, revenue grants receivable 
in the year, income from shared ownership first tranche 
sales, other services included at the invoiced value 
(excluding VAT where recoverable) of goods and 
services supplied in the year.

Rental income is recognised from the point when 
properties under development reach practical 
completion or otherwise become available for letting. 
Income from first tranche sales and sales of properties 
built for sale is recognised at the point of legal 
completion of the sale. Revenue grants are receivable 
when the conditions for receipt of agreed grant 
funding have been met. Charges for support services 
funded under Supporting People are recognised as 
they fall due under the contractual arrangements with 
administering authorities.

Sales of properties developed for outright sale are 
included in turnover and cost of sales.

Service charges
The group operates both fixed and variable service 
charges on a scheme by scheme basis in full 
consultation with residents. Where variable service 
charges are used, the charges will include an allowance 
for the surplus or deficit from prior years, with the 
surplus being returned to residents by a reduced 

charge and a deficit being recovered by a higher 
charge. Until these are returned or recovered they are 
held in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Where periodic expenditure is required, a provision 
may be built up over the years in consultation with the 
residents. Until these costs are incurred this liability is 
held in the Statement of Financial Position.

Taxation
The parent company became an exempt charity on 3 
April 2017 and, from this date, any surpluses or deficits 
arising from its charitable activities will be exempt from 
corporation tax. Any activity relating to non-charitable 
activity will be subject to corporation tax.

Deferred taxation
The payment of taxation is deferred or accelerated 
because of timing differences between the treatment 
of certain items for accounting and taxation purposes. 
Except as noted below, full provision for deferred 
taxation is made under the incremental liability 
method on all timing differences that have arisen, but 
not reversed by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is not provided for gains on the sale of 
non-monetary assets if the taxable gain will probably 
be rolled over.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply in the periods when the timing 
differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates 
and law enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
not discounted.

Value added tax
The group charges value added tax (VAT) on some of 
its income and is able to recover part of the VAT it 
incurs on expenditure. The financial statements include 
VAT to the extent that it is suffered by the group and 
not recoverable from HM Revenue and Customs. The 
group has three VAT Shelter Agreements in place; as a 
result, the VAT incurred on first time works on the social 
housing properties stock improvement programme is 
recoverable. The balance of VAT payable or recoverable 
at the year-end is included as a current liability or asset.

Loan interest costs
Interest payable is charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the year. No interest is 
capitalised.

2. Accounting policies (continued)
Pensions
The group participates in three funded multi-
employer defined benefit schemes, the Social Housing 
Pension Scheme (‘SHPS’), the Tyne and Wear Pension 
Fund (‘TWPF”) and the Durham County Council 
Pension Scheme (‘DCCPF’) and one defined 
contribution scheme with SHPS for employees of 
Karbon Homes Limited and York Housing Association 
Limited.

For the SHPS, TWPF and DCCPF defined benefit 
schemes, the net scheme asset or liability is recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Position. The operating 
costs of providing retirement benefits to participating 
employees are recognised in the accounting periods in 
which the benefits are earned. The related finance 
costs, expected return on assets and any other 
changes in the fair value of the assets and liabilities are 
recognised in the accounting period in which they 
arise. The operating costs, finance costs and expected 
return on assets are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income along with any other changes 
in fair value of assets and liabilities.

Supporting People
Charges for support services funded under Supporting 
People are recognised as they fall due under the 
contractual arrangements with administering 
authorities.

Business combinations
A combination in which the controlling parties of the 
combining entities have come together in a 
partnership for the mutual sharing of risks and benefits 
and in which no party to the combination in substance 
obtained control over any other, or has been otherwise 
seen to be dominant, is accounted for as a merger.

Acquisitions of other entities in the social housing 
sector that are in substance a gift are treated as non-
reciprocal transfers where the substance of the 
transaction is gifting control of one entity to another. 
These are also known as non-exchange transactions. In 
this case the fair value of the gifted assets and liabilities 
are recognised as a gain or loss in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the year of the transaction.

Joint ventures and associates 
An entity is treated as a joint venture where the group 
holds an interest and shares control under a contractual 

arrangement with one or more parties external to the 
group. 

An entity is treated as an associated undertaking where 
the group has a participating interest and exercises 
significant influence over its operating and financial 
policies. 

In the group financial statements, joint ventures are 
accounted for using the equity method. Under this 
method an equity investment is initially recognised at the 
transaction price (including transaction costs) and is 
subsequently adjusted to reflect the investor’s share of 
the profit or loss, other comprehensive income and 
equity of the associate. The Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income indicates the group’s share of the 
joint venture’s turnover and includes the group’s share of 
the operating results, interest, pre-tax results, and 
attributable taxation of such undertakings based on 
audited financial statements. In the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position, the group’s share of the 
identifiable gross assets (including any amortised 
premium paid on acquisition) and its share of the gross 
liabilities attributable to its joint venture are shown 
separately. 

Where the equity treatment is not appropriate due to the 
nature of the members’ agreement, we have accorded 
the shareholding as an investment.

Housing properties
Housing properties are principally properties available 
for rent and are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Cost includes the cost of acquiring land 
and buildings, development costs and expenditure 
incurred in respect of improvements. 

Works to existing properties which replace a 
component that has been treated separately for 
depreciation purposes, along with those works that 
result in an increase in net rental income over the lives 
of the properties, thereby enhancing the economic 
benefits of the assets, are capitalised as improvements. 
Such capital expenditure is subsequently subject to the 
application of the depreciation policy whereby the 
accumulated cost (less any residual values) of the 
capital asset is reduced over the useful life of the asset. 

All other expenditure incurred in respect of general 
repairs to the housing stock is charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in 
which it is incurred. 

2. Accounting policies (continued)
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Shared ownership properties are split proportionally 
between current and fixed assets based on the 
element relating to expected first tranche sales. The 
first tranche proportion is classed as a current asset and 
related sales proceeds included in turnover and the 
remaining element is classed as fixed asset and 
included in housing properties at cost, less any 
provisions needed for depreciation or impairment.

Housing properties under construction are stated at 
cost and are not depreciated. These are reclassified as 
housing properties on practical completion of 
construction.

Social housing grants
Social housing grant (SHG) is receivable from Homes 
England and is used to reduce the capital costs of 
housing properties, including land costs. Where 
developments have been financed wholly or partly by 
social housing and other grants, the amount of the 
grant received has been included as deferred income 
and recognised in turnover over the estimated useful 
life of the associated asset structure (not land), under 
the accruals model. SHG received for items of cost 
written off in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
is included as part of turnover.

SHG must be recycled by the group under certain 
conditions, if a property is sold, or if another relevant 
event takes place. In these cases, SHG is credited to 
recycled capital grant fund in creditors in the 
Statement of Financial Position and can be used for 
projects approved by Homes England. 

However, SHG may have to be repaid if certain 
conditions are not met. If grant is not required to be 
recycled or repaid, any unamortised grant is 
recognised as turnover. In certain circumstances, SHG 
may be repayable, and, in that event, is a subordinated 
unsecured repayable debt.

Recycling of capital grant
Where SHG is recycled, as described above, the SHG is 
credited to a fund which appears as a creditor until 
used to fund the acquisition of new properties. Where 
recycled grant is known to be repayable it is shown as a 
creditor within one year.

Stock transactions
Where an agreement is entered into with another 
social landlord to purchase housing properties from 
one another in return for non-monetary assets or a 
combination of non-monetary assets and monetary 
assets, the outgoing stock is treated as a disposal with a 
gain/loss recorded in profit or loss.  The incoming stock 
is measured at fair value.

Where there is a government grant associated with the 
housing properties that are part of the stock 
transaction, the fair value of the obligation to repay or 
recycle the government grant is reflected in the fair 
value of the housing properties and therefore no 
additional value should be attributable to the 
government grant transferred.

Donated land
Land donated by local authorities and others is added 
to cost at the market value of the land at the time of the 
donation.

Investment properties
Housing properties held as investments are stated at 
valuation on the Statement of Financial Position. The 
aggregate surplus or deficit arising on the valuation is 
accounted for through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Each property is subject to a year-end valuation to 
establish the fair value. Permanent deficits on individual 
investment properties are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

2. Accounting policies (continued)
Disposal proceeds fund
From 1 April 2017, the disposal proceeds fund (DPF) no 
longer exists; from this date any grant on disposal was 
credited into the recycling of capital grant fund, while 
the remaining creditor on the fund was carried forward 
until it was fully depleted in funding the acquisition of 
new social housing. In accordance with paragraph 2 of 
The Accounting Direction for Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing 2019, the DPF scheme 
operated until 6 April 2020; however Homes England 
permitted the remaining grant to be used in 2020/21.

Holiday pay accrual 
A liability is recognised to the extent of any unused 
holiday pay entitlement which has accrued at the 
balance sheet date and carried forward to future 
periods. This is measured at the undiscounted salary 
cost of the future holiday entitlement so accrued at the 
balance sheet date.

Other grants
Grants received from non-government sources are 
recognised under the performance model. If there are 
no specific performance requirements the grants are 
recognised when received or receivable. Where grant 
is received with specific performance requirements it is 
recognised as a liability until the conditions are met 
and then it is recognised as turnover.

Other grants include gap funding received from 
Homes England and have been used to reduce the 
capital costs of works to housing properties.

Depreciation of housing properties 
The group separately identifies the major components 
which comprise its housing properties, and charges 
depreciation, so as to write-down the cost of each 
component to its estimated residual value, on a 
straight-line basis, over its estimated useful economic 
life.

Where a housing property comprises two or more 
major components with substantially different useful 
lives (UELs), each component is accounted for 
separately and depreciated over its UEL. Expenditure 
relating to subsequent replacement or renewal of 

components is capitalised as incurred. Depreciation 
charges are part of the group’s running costs and are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income over the useful life of the asset.

The group depreciates the major components of its 
housing properties held for letting at the following 
lifespan and annual rates:

 Years

Structure 30 - 125

Roofs 30 - 65

Flat roofs 20 

External works 2 - 50

Kitchens 20 - 25

Bathrooms 25 - 33

Internal other 2 - 40

Windows 30

Doors 2 - 30

Garages/outbuildings 2 - 30

Disabled adaptations  2 - 30

Mechanical other 2 - 30

Heating systems 15 - 30

Rewires 25 - 40

Boiler systems 15 - 23

Solar panels and environmental 20 - 25

Communal lifts 25 - 40

Communal boilers  20

Fire risk works  10

Smoke alarms 10

Freehold land is not depreciated. Properties held on 
leases are amortised over the life of the lease or their 
estimated useful economic lives in the business, if 
shorter.

2. Accounting policies (continued)
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Impairment
Assets are reviewed for impairment if there is an 
indication that impairment may have occurred. 
Indicators considered include external sources of 
information such as market value, actual or proposed 
changes to technological, economic, or legal 
environment, obsolescence or damage to the asset, 
operational changes or internal reporting indicates that 
the asset is performing worse than expected. Where 
there is evidence of impairment, fixed assets are 
written down to their recoverable amount. Impairment 
is recognised where the carrying value of a cash 
generating unit exceeds the higher of its net realisable 
value or its value in use. Any such write down is 
charged to operating surplus.

Positive and negative goodwill
On acquisition, the recognised assets and liabilities of 
the acquired asset or entity will be measured at a fair 
value that reflects the conditions at the date of the 
acquisition. Positive or negative goodwill that arises will 
be treated as a gain or loss to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the year the transaction 
occurs. 

Current asset investments
Investments are held at market value.

Other tangible fixed assets
Depreciation is provided evenly on the cost of other 
tangible fixed assets to write them down to their 
estimated residual values over their expected useful 
lives. No depreciation is provided on freehold land. 

The principal annual rates used for other assets are:

 Years

Freehold buildings 10 - 100

Long leasehold property Over life of lease

Furniture, fixtures, and fittings  5 - 10

Computers and office equipment 3 - 5

Motor vehicles 3 - 5

Plant and equipment 5

Fire alarm upgrades 15

Leased assets
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Properties held for sale
Properties developed for outright sale, shared 
ownership first tranche sales and properties under 
construction are included in current assets as they are 
intended to be sold, at the lower of cost or estimated 
selling price less costs to complete and sell. Cost 
comprises materials, direct labour, and direct 
development overheads. Net realisable value is based 
on estimated sales price after allowing for all further 
costs of completion and disposal.

At each reporting date, stock and properties held for 
sale are assessed for impairment. If there is evidence of 
impairment, the carrying amount is reduced to its 
selling price less costs to complete and sell. The 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Short-term debtors and creditors
Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate, and 
receivable or payable within one year, are recorded at 
transaction price. Any losses arising from impairment 
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in other operating expenses.

Liquid resources
Liquid resources are readily disposable current asset 
investments. They include investments held for more 
than 24 hours, which can only be withdrawn without 
penalty on maturity or by giving notice of more than 
one working day. These are shown as cash within the 
Statement of Financial Position.

Provisions
The group provides for contractual liabilities and 
constructive liabilities, where a past event has created 
valid expectations in other parties that the group will 
discharge and where the obligation can be reliably 
estimated.

2. Accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments
Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise 
cash and cash equivalents, investments, trade debtors, 
other debtors, accrued income and amounts owed by 
association undertakings.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
comprise bank loans, trade creditors and other 
creditors.

Loan finance issue costs
These are amortised over the life of the related loan. 
Loans are stated in the Statement of Financial Position 
at the amount of the net proceeds after issue, plus 
increases to account for any subsequent amounts 
amortised. Where loans are redeemed during the year, 
any redemption penalty and any connected loan 
finance issue costs are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the year in which the 
redemption took place.

Loan breakage costs
Any breakage costs which are not cash settled when 
first incurred are included in lenders’ future margins 
and are therefore paid over the remaining life of the 
loan. The breakage costs are provided for in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income when first 
incurred and released over the life of the loan with the 
effect of reducing future year interest payable charges 
accordingly. 

Loan prepayment.
The group’s debt has been treated as “basic” in 
accordance with paragraphs 11.8 and 11.9 of FRS 102. 
The group has some fixed rate loans which have a 
two-way break clause (i.e. in addition to compensation 
being payable by a borrower to a lender if a loan is 
prepaid where the prevailing fixed rate is lower than 
the existing loan’s fixed rate, compensation could be 
payable by the lender to the borrower in the event that 
a loan is prepaid and the prevailing fixed rate is higher 
than the existing loan’s fixed rate). The group has 
treated these loans as basic in accordance with 
paragraph 11.9 (c).

Restricted reserve
The group holds a restricted reserve which has been 
utilised in accordance with the wishes of the 
benefactor. Movements in reserves are shown in the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

Revenue reserves
There are several reasons why the group needs to 
generate reserves:

• to provide a cushion against risk and uncertainty 
of future operations

• to finance future major repairs and improvements

•  to provide internal subsidy for new homes and 
property development.

Due to the reduction in social housing grant (SHG) and 
other capital grants available to the sector over recent 
years, the group needs to commit more of their 
reserves to financing investment in new homes and 
larger maintenance programmes. This approach not 
only enables greater investment, but it also reduces 
interest costs as further loans can be kept to a 
minimum.

Segmental reporting
For the purpose of segmental reporting, the chief 
operating decision maker (CODM) is considered to be 
the board.

In line with the segments reported to the CODM, the 
presentation of these financial statements and 
accompanied notes are in accordance with the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers 
of Social Housing from April 2022 and is considered 
appropriate. Information about income, expenditure 
and assets attributable to material operating segments 
are presented on the basis of the nature and function 
of housing assets held by the group.

This is appropriate on the basis of the similarity of the 
services provided, the nature of the risks associated, 
the type and class of customer and the nature of the 
regulatory environment across all of the geographical 
locations in which the group operates. The CODM do 
not review disaggregated financial information of 
assets and liabilities at this level of operating segment. 
Refer to note 3(a) for further disclosed information.

2. Accounting policies (continued)
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Group

2022 Group

Turnover Cost of  
sales

Operating 
expenditure

Operating 
surplus

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings Note 3(a)  135,041  -  (97,200)  37,841

Other social housing activities
Development services  2,632  (2,423)  (1,174)  (965)
Support services  1,890  -  (2,151)  (261)
Community investment  271  -  (2,997)  (2,726)
First tranche shared ownership sales  6,219  (3,561)  (320)  2,338 
Other  2,524  -  (1,025)  1,499 

 13,536  (5,984)  (7,667)  (115)

Non-social housing activities
Other rental income  515  -  (158)  357 
Properties developed for outright sale  1,142  (980)  -  162 
Market rentals  3,036  (131)  (435)  2,470 
External services  1,909  (1,747)  (176)  (14)
Other  7  (15)  (513)  (521)

 6,609  (2,873)  (1,282)  2,454 

Total before sale of housing properties  155,186  (8,857)  (106,149)  40,180

Negative goodwill arising on transfer of 
engagement (Note 31)  9,085  -  (524)  8,561 

Sale of housing properties  8,000  (4,116)  (75)  3,809 

 172,271  (12,973)  (106,748)  52,550 

Costs associated with the Byker Community Trust transfer of engagement have been written off against 
negative goodwill.

3. Turnover, cost of sales, operating expenditure and operating surplus 3. Turnover, cost of sales, operating expenditure and operating surplus (continued)

Group

2021 Group

Turnover Cost of  
sales

Operating 
expenditure

Operating 
surplus

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings   Note 3(a)  120,259  -  (84,771)  35,488 

Other social housing activities
Development services  1,603  (1,515)  (964)  (876)
Support services  1,825  -  (2,012)  (187)
Community investment  233  -  (2,503)  (2,270)
First tranche shared ownership sales  2,770  (1,706)  (134)  930 
Other  2,321  -  (1,575)  746 

 8,752  (3,221)  (7,188)  (1,657)

Non-social housing activities
Other rental income  336  -  (87)  249 
Properties developed for outright sale  6,231  (4,929)  (101)  1,201 
Market rentals  2,964  (242)  (395)  2,327 
External services  3,838  (3,450)  (639)  (251)
Other  20  (4)  (233)  (217)

 13,389  (8,625)  (1,455)  3,309 

Total before sale of housing properties  142,400  (11,846)  (93,414)  37,140 

Negative goodwill arising on transfer of 
engagement (Note 31)  -  -  -  - 

Sale of housing properties  3,955  (2,338)  -  1,617 

 146,355  (14,184)  (93,414)  38,757 
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3. Turnover, cost of sales, operating expenditure and operating surplus (continued)

Association

2022 Association

Turnover Cost of  
sales

Operating 
expenditure

Operating 
surplus

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings   Note 3(a)  129,790  -  (93,149)  36,641 

Other social housing activities
Development services  191  -  (1,164)  (973)
Support services  1,859  -  (2,116)  (257)
Community investment  271  -  (2,997)  (2,726)
First tranche shared ownership sales  5,775  (3,245)  (320)  2,210 
Other  3,022  -  (1,644)  1,378 

 11,118  (3,245)  (8,241)  (368)
 

Non-social housing activities
Other rental income  311  -  (65)  246 
Properties developed for outright sale  1,142  (980)  -  162 
Market rentals  1,252  -  (254)  998 
External services  7,064  (7,064)  (107)  (107)
Other  7  -  (9)  (2)

 9,776  (8,044)  (435)  1,297

Total before sale of housing properties  150,684  (11,289)  (101,825)  37,570 

Negative goodwill arising on transfer of 
engagement (Note 31)  9,085  -  (524)  8,561 

Sale of housing properties  6,759  (3,192)  (75)  3,492 

 166,528  (14,481)  (102,424)  49,623 

Costs associated with the Byker Community Trust transfer of engagement have been written off against 
negative goodwill.

3. Turnover, cost of sales, operating expenditure and operating surplus (continued)

Association

2021 Association

Turnover Cost of  
sales

Operating 
expenditure

Operating 
surplus

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings   Note 3(a)  115,349  -  (80,953)  34,396 

Other social housing activities
Development services  76  -  (956)  (880)
Support services  1,790  -  (1,977)  (187)
Community investment  233  -  (2,503)  (2,270)
First tranche shared ownership sales  2,428  (1,465)  (134)  829 
Other  2,784  -  (1,788)  996 

 7,311  (1,465)  (7,358)  (1,512)
 

Non-social housing activities
Other rental income  166  -  (13)  153 
Properties developed for outright sale  5,326  (4,221)  (99)  1,006 
Market rentals  1,207  -  (299)  908 
External services  9,412  (9,464)  (199)  (251)
Other  12  -  (15)  (3)

 16,123  (13,685)  (625)  1,813 

Total before sale of housing properties  138,783  (15,150)  (88,936)  34,697 

Negative goodwill arising on transfer of 
engagement (Note 31)  -  -  -  - 

Sale of housing properties  3,451  (1,774)  (45)  1,632 

 142,234  (16,924)  (88,981)  36,329 
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3. (a) Turnover, cost of sales, operating expenditure and operating surplus (continued)

Group - particulars of income and expenditure from social housing lettings

2022 Group 2021

General 
housing

Supported 
and  

sheltered 
housing

Shared 
ownership

Total   Total  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Turnover from social housing lettings
Rent receivable net of identifiable service 
charges and net of voids  107,013  8,416  1,511  116,940  105,156 

Service charges income  7,922  2,855  750  11,527  9,478 
Net rental income  114,935  11,271  2,261  128,467  114,634 

Revenue grants  16  64  -  80  (47)
Amortised government grants  5,026  119  6  5,151  5,039 
Other income  1,293  46  4  1,343  633 

                                                                                          
Turnover from social housing lettings  121,270  11,500  2,271  135,041  120,259 

                                                                        

Management  (15,261)  (2,833)  (355)  (18,449)  (16,770)
Services  (13,370)  (2,789)  (465)  (16,624)  (11,657)
Routine maintenance  (24,930)  (1,834)  (29)  (26,793)  (22,666)
Planned maintenance  (7,451)  (1,531)  (180)  (9,162)  (9,047)
Major repairs  -  -  -  -  - 
Bad debts  (1,109)  (20)  2  (1,127)  (782)
Depreciation of housing properties  (23,626)  (281)  (23)  (23,930)  (22,778)
Impairment of housing properties  (630)  -  -  (630)  (969)
Release of impairment on freehold property  61  -  -  61  30 
Write off - housing properties demolished  (383)  (163)  -  (546)  (132)

Operating expenditure on social housing 
lettings  (86,699)  (9,451)  (1,050)  (97,200)  (84,771)

                                                                        
Operating surplus on social housing lettings  34,571  2,049  1,221  37,841  35,488 

                                                                                         
Void losses  1,769  521  20  2,310  2,600 

3. (a) Turnover, cost of sales, operating expenditure and operating surplus (continued)

Association - particulars of income and expenditure from social housing lettings

2022 Association 2021

General 
housing

Supported 
and  

sheltered 
housing

Shared 
ownership

Total   Total  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Turnover from social housing lettings
Rent receivable net of identifiable service 
charges and net of voids  104,541  6,922  1,356  112,819  101,278 

Service charges income  7,780  2,267  675  10,722  8,752 
Net rental income  112,321  9,189  2,031  123,541  110,030 

Revenue grants  16  -  -  16  (111)
Amortised government grants  4,917  -  -  4,917  4,800 
Other income  1,293  19  4  1,316  630 

                                                                                          
Turnover from social housing lettings  118,547  9,208  2,035  129,790  115,349 

                                                                        

Management  (14,882)  (2,227)  (309)  (17,418)  (15,716)
Services  (13,150)  (2,246)  (450)  (15,846)  (10,989)
Routine maintenance  (24,651)  (1,516)  (26)  (26,193)  (22,110)
Planned maintenance  (7,298)  (1,381)  (180)  (8,859)  (8,805)
Major repairs  -  -  -  -  - 
Bad debts  (1,093)  -  2  (1,091)  (744)
Depreciation of housing properties  (22,627)  -  -  (22,627)  (21,518)
Impairment of housing properties  (630)  -  -  (630)  (969)
Release of impairment on freehold property  61  -  -  61  30 
Write off - housing properties demolished  (383)  (163)  -  (546)  (132)

Operating expenditure on social housing 
lettings  (84,653)  (7,533)  (963)  (93,149)  (80,953)

                                                                                          
Operating surplus on social housing lettings  33,894  1,675  1,072  36,641  34,396 

                                                                                         
Void losses  1,744  419  21  2,184  2,488 
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4. Accommodation in management and development

Group
2021 

Restated 

New units 
developed 
or acquired

Units  
sold or 

demolished

Transfers 
from/(to)
other RPs Other 2022

Owned and managed No. No. No. No. No. No.
Social housing
General housing - social rent  20,754  13  (111)  1,694  11  22,361 
General housing - affordable rent  2,663  259  (8)  13  3  2,930 
Supported and housing for older 
people - social rent  1,286  -  (35)  63  6  1,320 

Supported and housing for older 
people- affordable rent  324  -  -  -  -  324 

Low cost home ownership  795  23  (14)  -  (42)  762 

 25,822  295  (168)  1,770  (22)  27,697

Non-social
Market rented  489  -  (9)  -  (21)  459 
Student housing  27  -  -  -  -  27 
Temporary accommodation  24  -  -  -  -  24 

  540  -  (9)  -  (21)  510 

Owned and managed by others
General housing - social rent  51  31  -  -  -  82 
General housing - affordable rent  157  110  -  -  5  272 
Supported and housing for older 
people - social rent  237  -  -  -  (7)  230 

Supported and housing for older 
people- affordable rent  1  -  -  -  -  1 

Low cost home ownership  13  22  -  -  35  70 
Care home  14  -  -  -  -  14 

 473  163  -  -  33  669 

Total owned  26,835  458  (177)  1,770  (10) 28,876

Managed on behalf of others
Social housing
General housing - social rent  63  -  -  -  (3)  60 
General housing - affordable rent  19  -  -  -  3  22 
Low cost home ownership  26  -  -  -  -  26 

 108  -  -  -  -  108 

Other
Accommodation managed for others 
- non-social  11 - - - (1)  10 

Accommodation managed for others 
- leasehold  5 - - - 1  6 

Total managed for others  124  -  -  -  -  124

Total owned and managed  26,959  458  (177)  1,770  (10) 29,000

Leasehold units  583  -  -  65  1  649

Total  27,542  458  (177)  1,835  (9) 29,649

At the end of the year accommodation in management for each class of accommodation was as follows:

Association
2021 

Restated 

New units 
developed 
or acquired

Units  
sold or 

demolished

Transfers 
from/(to)
other RPs Other 2022

Owned and managed No. No. No. No. No. No.
Social housing
General housing - social rent  20,363  13  (110)  1,694  12  21,972 
General housing - affordable rent  2,546  244  (6)  13  (6)  2,791 
Supported and housing for older 
people - social rent  1,088  -  (35)  63  (2)  1,114 

Supported and housing for older 
people- affordable rent  321  -  -  -  -  321 

Low cost home ownership  734  20  (14)  -  (43)  697 

 25,052  277  (165)  1,770  (39)  26,895 

Non-social
Market rented  207  -  (2)  -  (11)  194 
Student housing  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Temporary accommodation  -  -  -  -  -  - 

  207  -  (2)  -  (11)  194 

Owned and managed by others
General housing - social rent  51  31  -  -  -  82 
General housing - affordable rent  157  110  -  -  5  272 
Supported and housing for older 
people - social rent  141  -  -  -  -  141 

Supported and housing for older 
people - affordable rent  1  -  -  -  -  1 

Low cost home ownership  13  22  -  -  35  70 
Care home  14  -  -  -  -  14 

 377  163  -  -  40  580 

Total owned  25,636  440  (167)  1,770  (10)  27,669 

Managed on behalf of others
Social housing
General housing - social rent  4  -  -  -  (3)  1 
General housing - affordable rent  5  -  -  -  -  5 
Low cost home ownership  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 9  -  -  -  (3)  6 

Other
Accommodation managed for others 
- non-social  9  -  -  -  -  9 

Accommodation managed for others 
- leasehold  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total managed for others  18  -  -  -  (3)  15 

Total owned and managed  25,654  440  (167)  1,770  (13)  27,684 

Leasehold units  573  -  -  65  1  639 

Total  26,227  440  (167)  1,835  (12)  28,323 

4. Accommodation in management and development
At the end of the year accommodation in management for each class of accommodation was as follows:
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4. Accommodation in management and development (continued)
The prior year has been restated to accommodate the change in the Regulator of Social Housing’s 
Statistical Data Return (SDR) definition, in which properties which have staircased to the available 
maximum are now disclosed as low cost home ownership rather than social leasehold.

5. Operating surplus

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Depreciation of housing properties  22,875  21,575  22,059  20,811 
Depreciation of housing properties - write off fair value  469  469  -  - 

Depreciation of housing properties - write off on 
replacement  611  751  568  707 

Amortisation of deferred capital grant  (5,099)  (5,020)  (4,865)  (4,783)

Amortisation of deferred grant -write off on 
replacement  (52)  (17)  (52)  (17)

Impairment of housing properties  630  969  630  969 
Release of impairment on freehold property  (61)  (30)  (61)  (30)
Depreciation of other tangible fixed assets  1,631  1,536  1,268  1,354 

Operating lease rentals:             
- land and buildings  499  515  375  391 
- office equipment, computers and motor vehicles  1,765  1,606  1,765  1,606 

Auditors’ remuneration (excluding VAT):             
- audit of the group financial statements  52  48  52  48 
- audit of subsidiaries  21  21  -  - 

Fees payable to the company's auditor and its 
associates for other services

- service charge certification  10  7  10  7 
- other  4  20  4  20 

This is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

6. Surplus on sale of fixed assets – housing properties

7. Interest receivable and other income

8. Interest payable and similar charges

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Proceeds from sale of properties  8,000  3,955  6,759  3,451 
Less:
Net book value of properties  (3,475)  (1,546)  (2,561)  (1,404)
Proceeds to be returned to local authorities  (388)  (602)  (388)  (233)
Grant written off on disposal  271  162  272  161 
Recyclable grants on disposal  (360)  (179)  (360)  (179)
Administration charges  (239)  (173)  (230)  (164)

Net surplus from sale of properties  3,809 1,617  3,492 1,632 

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest receivable and other income 300 211 1,280 1,290

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

On bank loans and other loans  18,484  18,216  17,546  17,266 
Loan breakage costs  (70)  (66)  (70)  (66)
Loan non-utilisation fees  587  609  567  585 
Interest on RCGF  2  1  2  1 

 19,003  18,760  18,045  17,786 
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9. Employees
Average monthly number of employees expressed in full time equivalents (calculated based on a 
standard working week of 37 hours):

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

No. No. No. No. 

Housing management, repairs and asset management 722 675 698 653
Administration, finance and other 136 129 135 128
Development 19 20 19 20
Housing support and care 38 37 32 32

915 861 884 833

2022 2021
No. No.

£60,001 to £70,000 - -
£70,001 to £80,000 7 3
£80,001 to £90,000 8 10
£90,001 to £100,000 1 -
£100,001 to £110,000 3 3
£110,001 to £120,000 - -
£120,001 to £130,000 - -
£130,001 to £140,000 2 -
£140,001 to £150,000 - 2
£150,001 to £160,000 1 1
£160,001 to £170,000 - -
£170,001 to £180,000 - -
£180,001 to £190,000 1 1

The full-time equivalent number of key management personnel includes the salaries of two York Housing 
Association employees.

Employee costs:

At March 2022 £234.4k (2021: £0.3k) was outstanding 
in respect of unpaid defined pension contributions.

Pension obligations
The group participates in the following pension 
schemes:

• The Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS): a 
multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme

• The Social Housing Pension Fund (SHPS): a defined 
contribution scheme

• The Tyne and Wear Pension Fund (TWPF): a multi-
employer defined benefit scheme

• The Durham County Council Pension Fund (DCCPF): 
a multi-employer defined benefit scheme.

The nature of each defined benefit scheme is detailed 
below. 

Guaranteed Minimum Pension equalisation and 
indexation ruling
The schemes are required to pay a Guaranteed  
Minimum Pension (GMP) to members who accrued 
benefits in the schemes between 6 April 1978 and 5 
April 1997, when the scheme was ‘contracted-out’ of 
the state second pension on a salary-related basis. 

The GMP was intended to approximately replace the 
state pension, which members were giving up, 
however the payment terms of GMP are different  
between men and women, which was a consequence 
of the state pension itself being unequal at that time. 

A High Court ruling on 26 October 2018 clarified that 
an obligation exists to adjust benefits for the effect of 
inequalities caused by GMP earned between 17 May 
1990 and 5 April 1997. A subsequent ruling on 20 
November 2020 confirmed trustees also have an 
obligation to revisit and equalise statutory transfer 
value payments paid between 17 May 1990 and 26 
October 2020 to address GMP inequalities.

Both the SHPS and Local Government Pension 
Schemes (LGPS) schemes allowed for the initial impact 
of GMP equalisation on current members in previous 
years. However, whilst no allowance has been made in 
the LGPS schemes for compensating members who 
took a transfer payment from the fund since May 1990, 
SHPS included an additional allowance in the March 
2021 liability values to account for the estimated impact 
of this.

McCloud/Sargeant judgement
On 27 June 2019, the Supreme Court ruled against the 
government in the ‘McCloud/Sargeant’ judgement 
which found that the transitional protection 
arrangements put in place when the firefighters’ and 
judges’ pension schemes were reformed were age 
discriminatory. The ruling potentially had implications 
for all public sector schemes, which were reformed 
around the same time and could lead to members 
who were discriminated against being compensated. 

The 2020 financial statements included a McCloud 
‘underpin’ liability within the current service cost, 

9. Employees (continued)

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Wages and salaries 30,580 28,542 29,546 27,590
Social security costs 3,243 3,014 3,128 2,912
Other pension costs 5,066 4,782 4,847 4,576

38,889 36,338 37,521 35,078

Redundancy costs 45 51 45 51

38,934 36,389 37,566 35,129
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Pension obligations (continued) 

together with an allowance within the Statement of 
Financial Position reflecting service since the scheme 
reforms (2014 in England and Wales, and 2015 in 
Northern Ireland). For accounting periods ending in 
2022, the approach is the same as last year, using a 
roll-forward method based on last year’s results. 

In summary, it is assumed that the remedy applies to all 
members in service on 1 April 2012, on retirement or 
prior withdrawal, and with extension to benefits 
payable to the dependants of those members. 

No further re-measurements are expected this year 
and no additional provisions have been made in the 
LGPS schemes.

Social Housing Pension Schemes
Karbon Homes Limited, the association and York 
Housing Association Limited participate in the SHPS 
Pension Scheme (the Scheme), a multi-employer 
scheme which provides benefits to some 500 non-
associated employers. The Scheme is a defined benefit 
scheme in the UK. 

The Scheme is subject to the funding legislation 
outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into 
force on 30 December 2005. This, together with 
documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and 
Technical Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding 
defined benefit occupational pension schemes in the 
UK. 

The last completed triennial valuation of the Scheme 
for funding purposes was carried out as at 30 
September 2020. This valuation revealed a deficit of 
£1,560.0m. A recovery plan has been put in place with 
the aim of removing this deficit by 31 March 2028. 

The Scheme is classified as a ‘last-man standing 
arrangement’. Therefore, the company is potentially 
liable for other participating employers’ obligations if 
those employers are unable to meet their share of the 
Scheme deficit following withdrawal from the Scheme. 
Participating employers are legally required to meet 
their share of the Scheme deficit on an annuity 
purchase basis on withdrawal from the Scheme. 

For accounting purposes, a valuation of the Scheme is 
carried out with an effective date of 30 September 
each year. The liability figures from this valuation are 
rolled forward for accounting year-ends from the 
following 31 March to 28 February inclusive. The 
liabilities are compared, at the relevant accounting 
date, with the company’s fair share of the Scheme’s 
total assets to calculate the company’s net deficit or 
surplus.

Karbon Homes has been notified by the trustee of the 
Scheme that it has performed a review of the changes 
made to the Scheme’s benefits over the years and the 
result is that there is uncertainty surrounding some of 
these changes. The trustee has been advised to seek 
clarification from the court on these items. This process 
is ongoing and the matter is unlikely to be resolved 
before the end of 2024 at the earliest. It is recognised 
that this could potentially impact the value of Scheme 
liabilities, but until court directions are received, it is not 
possible to calculate the impact of this issue, 
particularly on an individual employer basis, with any 
accuracy at this time. No adjustment has been made in 
these financial statements in respect of this potential 
issue.

9. Employees (continued)
Pension obligations (continued) 

Local Government Pension Schemes (LGPS)
The association participates in two Local Government 
Pension Schemes, the Tyne and Wear Pension Fund 
(TWPF) and the Durham County Council Pension Fund 
(DCCPF). Both schemes are multi-employer defined 
benefit schemes which are administered by South 
Tyneside Council and Durham County Council 
respectively under the regulations governing the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (the LGPS). 

 
 
During the year, a decision was taken to amalgamate 
the former Derwentside with the former Cestria 
Durham County Council Pension Funds and the Byker 
Community Trust Fund which was a member of the 
Tyne and Wear Pension Fund with the former Isos Fund.

The most recent formal actuarial valuation of the 
Scheme was at 31 March 2019 which was rolled forward 
to 31 March 2022 by a qualified independent actuary. 

Scheme disclosures for the year

Net liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are as follows:

2022 2021
LGPS LGPS

SHPS TWPF DCCPF SHPS TWPF DCCPF
Retiring today:

Males 21.1 21.8 22.1 21.6 21.9 22.3

Females 23.7 25.0 24.2 23.5 25.1 24.3

Retiring in 20 years:

Males 22.4 23.5 23.2 22.9 23.6 23.3

Females 25.2 26.7 25.7 25.1 26.9 25.8

2022 2021
SHPS LGPS SHPS LGPS

KHL York TWPF DCCPF KHL York TWPF DCCPF
% % % % % % % %

Discount rate 2.78 2.79 2.80 2.70 2.21 2.14 2.10 2.10

Inflation (RPI) 3.47 3.62 NA NA 3.24 3.30 NA NA

Inflation (CPI) 3.14 3.21 3.10 3.00 2.87 2.85 2.70 2.70

Pension increases NA NA 3.10 3.00 NA NA 2.70 2.70

Pension accounts 
revaluation rate NA NA 3.10 3.00 NA NA 2.70 2.70

Salary growth 4.14 4.21 4.60 4.00 3.87 3.85 4.20 3.70

The financial assumptions used to calculate the defined benefit section liabilities under FRS 102 are:

9. Employees (continued)

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social Housing Pension Scheme 7,443 14,945 6,660 13,845
Tyne and Wear Pension Fund 360 1,550 360 1,550
Durham County Council Pension Fund 16,600 24,430 16,600 24,430

24,403 40,925 23,620 39,825

The income and expenditure charge represents the employer contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 

Assumptions
The assumed life expectancy (in years) on retirement at age 65 are:
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Pension obligations (continued) 
Social Housing Pension Scheme (Karbon Homes Limited)
The employers’ contributions to SHPS by the 
association for the period ended 31 March 2022 were 
£1.1m (2021: £890.0k). Contribution rates are charged at 
5.65% CARE 1/120th, 11.05% CARE 1/60th, and 13.6% 

Final Salary (2021: not offered in 2021, 11.05% and 13.6% 
respectively) of pensionable pay. These amounts have 
been charged to operating costs.

Actual return on plan assets

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Actual return on plan assets 3,882 4,234
                               

Reconciliation of funded status to the statement of financial position

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Notional value of assets 49,988 46,111
Present value of liabilities (56,648) (59,956)

                              
Deficit (6,660) (13,845)

                              

Changes to the present value of defined benefit obligation:

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Opening present value of liabilities 59,956 45,802
Current service cost 1,850 1,050
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 1,320 1,088
Contributions by participants 868 887
Actuarial losses/(gains) on liabilities 1,994 (1,356)

Actuarial (gains)/losses in assumptions underlying the present value of the 
Scheme liabilities

(6,294) 13,318

Net benefits paid out (3,080) (867)
Expenses 34 34

                                
Closing present value of liabilities 56,648 59,956

9. Employees (continued) 9. Employees (continued)
Pension obligations (continued)

Changes to the fair value of assets

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Opening fair value of assets 46,111 39,801
Interest income on assets 1,018 959
Re-measurement gains on assets 2,864 3,275
Contributions by the employer 2,207 2,056
Contributions by participants 868 887
Net benefits paid out (3,080) (867)

                                
Closing fair value of assets 49,988 46,111

Analysis of the amount credited to the statement of comprehensive income

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Current service cost (1,850) (1,050)
Contributions by employer 2,207 2,056

                                
Total income 357 1,006

                              

Analysis of the amount debited to other finance costs

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Interest income on assets 1,018 959
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (1,320) (1,088)
Expenses (34) (34)

                            
(336)  (163)
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9. Employees (continued)

Amounts for the current and previous periods are as follows:

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Present value of liabilities (49,988) (46,111) (45,802) (49,265) (43,486)
Fair value of assets 56,648 59,956 39,801 36,400 32,884

                                
Deficit on the scheme (6,660) (13,845) (6,001) (12,865) (10,602)

Analysis of amount recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI)

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Actuarial gain in other comprehensive income 870 4,631

Actuarial gain/(loss) due to changes in the assumptions underlying the 
present value of scheme liabilities

6,294 (13,318)

                                
Cumulative actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in OCI 7,164 (8,687)

Movement in net pension liability

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Group share of scheme assets and liabilities at beginning of period (13,845)  (6,001)
Contributions paid 2,207 2,056
Current service cost (1,850) (1,050)
Interest income on assets 1,018  959
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (1,320) (1,088)
Other expenses (34) (34)
Actuarial gain/(loss) 7,164 (8,687)

                            
Net deficit at 31 March (6,660) (13,845)

Pension obligations (continued)

Social Housing Pension Scheme (York Housing Association Limited)
York Housing Association has both a defined benefit 
and defined contribution scheme, however, only the 
defined contribution scheme is active. Employee 
contributions to the Scheme are matched by York 
Housing Association from a minimum of 4% to a 
maximum of 10.0% (2021: 9.6%).

The defined benefit scheme is not open to new 
members and the benefits accruing to its members 
were frozen in 2016 and accordingly there are no 
ongoing salary-based contributions.

The employers’ contributions to SHPS for the period 
ended 31 March 2022 were £61k (2021: £46k). These 
amounts have been charged to operating costs.

9. Employees (continued)
Pension obligations (continued)

Actual return on plan assets

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

                                
Actual return on plan assets 90 520

Reconciliation of funded status to balance sheet

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Notional value of assets 4,969 4,912
Present value of liabilities (5,752) (6,012)

                              
Deficit (783) (1,100)

67Karbon Homes Annual Review 2021/22 66



Notes to the financial statements

9. Employees (continued)
Pension obligations (continued)

Changes to the present value of defined benefit obligation:

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Opening present value of liabilities 6,012 4,994
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 127 117
Actuarial losses/(gains) on liabilities 290 (33)

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in assumptions underlying the 
present value of the Scheme liabilities

(495) 1,088

Net benefits paid out (189)  (161)
Expenses 7 7

                                
Closing present value of liabilities 5,752 6,012

Changes to the fair value of assets

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Opening fair value of assets 4,912 4,400
Interest income on assets 105 105
Re-measurement (losses)/gains on assets (15) 415
Contributions by the employer 156 153
Net benefits paid out (189) (161)

                                
Closing fair value of assets 4,969 4,912

Analysis of the amount credited to the statement of comprehensive income

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Contributions by employer 156 153
                                

Total income 156 153

9. Employees (continued)
Pension obligations (continued)

Analysis of the amount debited to other finance income

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Interest income on assets 105 105
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (127) (117)
Expenses (7) (7)

(29) (19)

Amounts for the current and previous periods are as follows:

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Present value of liabilities (5,752) (6,012) (4,994) (5,640) (5,233)
Fair value of assets 4,969 4,912 4,400 4,212 4,041

                                                                   
Deficit on the scheme (783) (1,100) (594) (1,428) (1,192)

Analysis of amount recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI)

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Actuarial (loss)/gain in other comprehensive income (305) 448

Actuarial gain/(loss) due to changes in the assumptions underlying the 
present value of scheme liabilities

495 (1,088)

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in OCI 190 (640)
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9. Employees (continued)
Pension obligations (continued)

Movement in net pension liability

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Group share of scheme assets and liabilities at beginning of period (1,100) (594)
Contributions paid 156 153
Interest income on assets 105  105
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (127) (117)
Other expenses (7) (7)
Actuarial gain/(loss) 190   (640)

                              
Net deficit at 31 March (783) (1,100)

Local Government Pension Schemes
The Tyne and Wear Pension Fund
The employers’ contributions to the TWPF by the 
association for the period ended 31 March 2022 were 
£151.3k (2021: £119.5k) at contribution rates of 36.1% Isos, 
21.1% Byker (2021: 36.1%, 19.5% respectively) of 
pensionable pay. These amounts have been charged 
to operating costs.

Estimated employers’ contributions to the TWPF for 
the accounting period commencing 1 April 2022 are 
£400.0k.

Actual return on plan assets

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Actual return on plan assets 1,230 2,910

Reconciliation of funded status to statement of financial position

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Notional value of assets 18,130 16,040
Present value of liabilities (18,490) (17,590)

                              
Deficit (360) (1,550)

9. Employees (continued)
Pension obligations (continued)

Changes to the present value of defined benefit obligation

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Opening present value of liabilities 17,590 15,090
Acquisition liability settlement 2,160 -
Current service cost 220 120
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation  410 340
Contributions by participants 40 20
Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities  (1,210) 2,340
Net benefits paid out (720) (320)

                                
Closing present value of liabilities 18,490 17,590

Analysis of the amount credited to the statement of comprehensive income

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Current service cost (220) (120)
Contributions by employer 380 270

                                
160 150

Changes to the fair value of assets

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Opening fair value of assets 16,040 13,160
Acquisition settlement 1,160 -
Interest income on assets 360 300
Re-measurement gains on assets 870 2,610
Contributions by the employer 380 270
Contributions by participants 40 20
Net benefits paid out (720) (320)

                                
Closing fair value of assets 18,130 16,040
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9. Employees (continued)
Pension obligations (continued)

Analysis of the amount debited to other finance costs

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Interest income on assets 360 300
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (410) (340)

                            
(50) (40)

Amounts for the current and previous periods are as follows:

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Present value of liabilities (18,490) (17,590) (15,090) (16,070) (15,710)
Fair value of assets 18,130 16,040 13,160 15,080 13,880

Deficit on the scheme (360) (1,550) (1,930) (990) (1,830)

Analysis of amount recognised in other comprehensive income

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Actuarial gain in other comprehensive income 2,080 270

Movement in net pension liability

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Group share of scheme assets and liabilities at beginning of period (1,550) (1,930)
Acquisition through business combination (1,000) -
Contributions paid 380 270
Current service cost (220) (120)
Interest income on assets 360 300
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (410) (340)
Actuarial gain 2,080 270

Net deficit at 31 March (360) (1,550)

9. Employees (continued)
Pension obligations (continued)

Durham County Council Pension Fund 
The employers’ contributions to the DCCPF by the 
association, for the period ended 31 March 2022, were 
£1.7m (2021: £1.8m) at contribution rates of 27.9% 
Cestria, 25% Derwentside (2021: 27.9%, 25% 
respectively) of pensionable pay. 

Estimated employers’ contributions to the DCCPF for 
the accounting period commencing 1 April 2022 are 
£1.8m.

Actual return on plan assets

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Actual return on plan assets 3,110 16,860

Reconciliation of funded status to statement of financial position

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Notional value of assets 87,450 84,190
Present value of liabilities (104,050) (108,620)

Deficit (16,600) (24,430)
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9. Employees (continued)
Pension obligations (continued)

Changes to the present value of defined benefit obligation

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Opening present value of liabilities 108,620  86,280
Current service cost 3,160 2,210
Interest cost 2,260 1,970
Contributions by participants 440 450
Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities (8,390)  19,430
Net benefits paid out (2,060)    (1,720)
Past service cost 20   -

                                
Closing present value of liabilities 104,050 108,620

Analysis of the amount credited to the statement of comprehensive income

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Current service cost (3,160) (2,210)
Contributions by employer 1,770 1,770
Past service costs (20) -

                      
Total expense (1,410) (440)

Changes to the fair value of assets

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Opening fair value of assets 84,190 66,830
Interest income on assets 1,770 1,550
Actuarial gains on assets 1,340 15,310
Contributions by the employer 1,770 1,770
Contributions by participants 440 450
Net benefits paid out (2,060) (1,720)

Closing fair value of assets 87,450 84,190

9. Employees (continued)
Pension obligations (continued)

Analysis of the amount debited to other finance costs

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Interest income on assets 1,770 1,550
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (2,260) (1,970)

(490) (420)

Amounts for the current and previous periods are as follows:

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Present value of liabilities (104,050) (108,620) (86,280) (91,470) (86,280)
Fair value of assets 87,450 84,190 66,830 71,250 65,620

Deficit on the scheme (16,600) (24,430) (19,450) (20,220) (20,660)

Analysis of amount recognised in other comprehensive income

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in other comprehensive income 9,730 (4,120)
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9. Employees (continued)
Pension obligations (continued)

Movement in net pension liability

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Group share of scheme assets and liabilities at beginning of period (24,430) (19,450)
Contributions paid 1,770 1,770
Current service cost (3,160) (2,210)
Past service cost (20) -
Interest income on assets 1,770 1,550
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (2,260) (1,970)
Actuarial gain/(loss) 9,730 (4,120)

Net deficit at 31 March (16,600) (24,430)

10. Board members and executive directors

The Group Chief Executive, who is also a member of 
the board, is remunerated as an executive director of 
Karbon Homes Limited. 

Executive directors

The aggregate emoluments of the executive directors 
for the year amounted to £785,009 (2021: £783,316) 
including pension contributions of £67,869 (2021: 
£59,530). The emoluments of the highest paid 
director, who is the Group Chief Executive, excluding 
pension contributions, were  £182,333 (2021: £180,033). 

During the year, compensation paid or payable to 
directors for loss of office was £nil (2021: £nil). 

The Group Chief Executive is a member of the Social 
Housing Pension Scheme. He is an ordinary member 
of the pension scheme and no enhanced or special 
terms apply.  The association does not make any 
further contribution to an individual pension 
arrangement for the Group Chief Executive.

Non-executive board members’ emoluments   2022 2021
Fee Fee

£’000 £’000
Sir David Bell KCB DL 20.0 18.3
Alexis Cleveland 9.5 8.4
Paul Fiddaman - -
Shahida Iqbal 3.5 2.8
Hanif Malik 8.9 8.4
Carole McTaggart - -
Gillian Moy (from 1 October 2021) 4.2 -
Michael Mullaney 8.4 8.4
Anne Mulroy 10.0 8.4
Neil Revely (from 1 October 2021) 4.2 -
Peter Rudge 2.0 1.1
Sarah Salter 10.0 9.2
Stephen Secker 13.4 7.1
Pat Southgate 2.0 2.0
Stephen Spill 11.3 9.8
Adrian Stanley 11.3 11.3
Steve Waddington 2.0 2.0
Mike Wills 2.0 2.0
David Butler (to 30 September 2021) 6.0 12.0
Sebert Cox OBE (to 30 April 2020) - 1.7
Kathryn Larkin-Bramley (to 30 September 2020) - 5.0
Maxine Mayhew (to 31 December 2020) - 6.3
Stephen Moorhouse (to 30 September 2020) - 5.6
Mike Newberry (to 10 September 2020) - -
Julie Taylor (to 30 April 2021) 0.7 8.4

129.4 138.2

The emoluments of the non-executive and executive directors (including pension contributions), who served 
during the year were as follows:
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11. Tax on surplus on ordinary activities

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Analysis of tax charge/(credit) for the period
Current tax:
UK corporation tax on surplus for the year at 19%  46 306 46 191
Adjustments in respect of prior years  (149) (97)  (35) (44)

(103) 209 11 147
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences (2)  (11) - -
Effect of rate change on opening balance  3 - - -

Tax on profits on ordinary activities  (102) 198  11 147

Provision for deferred tax
Movement in provision:
Provision at start of period  9 19 - -

Deferred tax charged in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for the period

 1 (10) - -

Provision at end of period  10 9 - -

Deferred tax asset not recognised (243) (273) (238) (238)

11. Tax on surplus on ordinary activities (continued)

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Reconciliation of tax charge/(credit)
Surplus on ordinary activities before tax  35,611 22,294  33,289 19,517

Theoretical tax at UK corporation tax rate 19% (2021: 19%)  6,766 4,236  6,325 3,708

Effects of:
Surplus relating to charitable income  (9,506) (6,636)  (9,468) (6,651)
Income not taxable for tax purposes  (259) (460) - -
Fixed asset differences  6 (5)  13 -
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  3,181 3,141 3,178 3,134
Chargeable gains  - 39 - -
Amounts (credited) directly to equity  (113) (25) - -
Group relief surrendered  2 - - -
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior periods  (149) (97)  (35) (44)
Remeasurement of deferred tax for changes in tax rate 1 - - -
Deferred tax not recognised  (29) 5 - -
Other tax adjustments, reliefs and transfers (2) - (2) -

Current tax charge/(credit)  (102) 198  11 147

79Karbon Homes Annual Review 2021/22 78



Notes to the financial statements

Group

Social 
housing 

properties 
held for 

letting

Social 
housing 

properties 
under 

construction

Shared 
ownership 
properties 

held for 
letting

Shared 
ownership 
properties 

under 
construction

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost
At 1 April 2021  1,043,120  45,165  32,676  4,636  1,125,597 
Additions  371  47,862  (71)  858  49,020 
Additions - newly built properties acquired  14,452  -  4,204  -  18,656 
Properties acquired at fair value (note 31)  17,161  224  -  -  17,385 
Re-classification adjustment  3,244  -  (3,244)  -  - 
Transferred to other RPs  (246)  -  -  -  (246)
Capitalised planned maintenance  19,097  1,071  104  -  20,272 
Schemes completed  37,127  (37,127)  2,136  (2,136)  - 
Disposals - properties  (1,877)  (376)  (1,263)  -  (3,516)
Demolitions  (894)  -  -  -  (894)
Disposals - write off on replacement  (2,228)  -  -  -  (2,228)
At 31 March 2022  1,129,327  56,819  34,542  3,358  1,224,046 

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 April 2021  205,578  -  2,817  -  208,395 
Charged in year  22,565  -  297  -  22,862 
Impairment charged in year  630  -  -  -  630 
Re-classification adjustment  410  -  (410)  -  - 
Transferred to current assets  (7)  -  -  -  (7)
Released on disposal - properties  (606)  -  (86)  -  (692)
Released on demolition  (612)  -  -  -  (612)
Released on disposal - replacements  (1,617)  -  -  -  (1,617)
Write down of fair value  469  -  -  -  469 
At 31 March 2022  226,810  -  2,618  -  229,428 

Net book value
At 31 March 2022  902,517  56,819  31,924  3,358  994,618 

At 31 March 2021  837,542  45,165  29,859  4,636  917,202 

12. Tangible fixed assets – housing properties

Association

Social 
housing 

properties 
held for 

letting

Social 
housing 

properties 
under 

construction

Shared 
ownership 
properties 

held for 
letting

Shared 
ownership 
properties 

under 
construction

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost
At 1 April 2021  992,789  43,408  30,262  4,618  1,071,077 
Additions  371  43,584  (71)  424  44,308 
Additions - newly built properties acquired  14,452  -  4,204  -  18,656 
Properties acquired at fair value (note 31)  17,161  224  -  -  17,385 
Re-classification adjustment  3,356  -  (3,356)  -  - 
Transferred to other RPs  (246)  -  -  -  (246)
Capitalised planned maintenance  18,211  1,071  66  -  19,348 
Schemes completed  34,648  (34,648)  1,894  (1,894)  - 
Disposals - properties  (1,837)  (376)  (1,114)  -  (3,327)
Demolitions  (894)  -  -  -  (894)
Disposals - write off on replacement (2.073) - - - (2.073)

At 31 March 2022  1,075,938  53,263  31,885  3,148  1,164,234 

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 April 2021  214,352  -  2,775  -  217,127 
Charged in year  21,786  -  273  -  22,059 
Impairment charged in year  630  -  -  -  630 
Re-classification adjustment  418  -  (418)  -  - 
Released on disposal - properties  (604)  -  (84)  -  (688)
Released on demolition  (612)  -  -  -  (612)
Released on disposal - replacements  (1,505)  -  -  -  (1,505)

At 31 March 2022  234,465  -  2,546  -  237,011 

Net book value
At 31 March 2022  841,473  53,263  29,339  3,148  927,223 

At 31 March 2021  778,437  43,408  27,487  4,618  853,950 

12. Tangible fixed assets – housing properties (continued)

81Karbon Homes Annual Review 2021/22 80



Notes to the financial statements

12. Tangible fixed assets – housing properties (continued)

Housing properties book value, net of depreciation and offices net book value (note 13) comprises:

Impairment
Properties have been impaired where the properties are of non-traditional construction and therefore have a 
limited life, have a high void rate or it is probable that a plan to regenerate existing properties by demolishing them 
will go ahead. 

The total number of housing units impaired is 129 (2021: 194). The carrying value of the properties pre-impairment 
was £5,732k. 

Improvements to existing properties:

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 1,839 870 1,839 870
Provided during the year 1,050 1,070 1,050 1070
Released during the year (420) (101) (420) (101)

At 31 March 2,469 1,839 2,469 1,839

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Capitalised planned maintenance 20,272 14,012 19,348 13,302
Planned maintenance 9,162 9,047 8,859 8,805

29,434 23,059 28,207 22,107

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

Housing properties £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Freehold land and buildings 959,790 882,442 895,429 822,156
Long leasehold land and buildings 32,226 32,180 29,492 29,492
Short leasehold land and buildings 2,602 2,580 2,302 2,302

994,618 917,202 927,223 853,950

Offices
Freehold land and buildings 8,612 8,812 7,653 7,862

13. Tangible fixed assets – other

Group

Freehold 
offices

Furniture 
fixtures  

and  
fittings

Computers 
and office 

equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Leasehold 
improve-

ments

Commercial 
premises

Plant and 
equipment

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost
At 1 April 2021  11,643  2,810  4,842  -  1,216  167  212  20,890 
Additions  27  1,333  584  -  (4)  -  -  1,940 
Acquisition -  
business combination

 -  4  68  -  99  -  -  171 

Work in progress  -  -  82  47  -  -  -  129 
Disposals  (303)  (635)  (61)  -  -  -  -  (999)
At 31 March 2022  11,367  3,512  5,515  47  1,311  167  212  22,131 

Depreciation
At 1 April 2021  2,831  2,122  3,352  -  587  51  153  9,096 
Acquisition -  
business combination

 -  -  47  -  79  -  -  126 

Charged in year  234  437  791  -  133  4  32  1,631 
Impairment  (61)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (61)
Released on disposal  (249)  (560)  (44)  -  -  -  -  (853)
At 31 March 2022  2,755  1,999  4,146  -  799  55  185  9,939 

Net book value
At 31 March 2022  8,612  1,513  1,369  47  512  112  27  12,192 
At 31 March 2021  8,812  688  1,490  -  629  116  59  11,794 
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13. Tangible fixed assets – other (continued)

Association

Freehold 
offices

Furniture 
fixtures  

and  
fittings

Computers 
and office 

equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Leasehold 
improve-

ments

Commercial 
premises

Plant and 
equipment

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost
At 1 April 2021  10,511  1,638  4,826  -  1,216  167  212  18,570 
Additions  3  265  584  -  (4)  -  -  848 
Acquisition -  
business combination

 -  4  68 -  99  -  -  171 

Work in progress  -  -  82  47  -  -  -  129 
Disposals  (303)  -  (61)  -  -  -  -  (364)
At 31 March 2022  10,211  1,907  5,499  47  1,311  167  212  19,354 

Depreciation
At 1 April 2021  2,649  1,456  3,348  -  587  51  153  8,244 
Acquisition -  
business combination

 -  -  47  -  79  - -    126 

Charged in year  219  92  788  -  133  4  32  1,268 
Impairment  (61)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (61)
Released on disposal  (249)  -  (44)  -  -  -  -  (293)
At 31 March 2022  2,558  1,548  4,139  -  799  55  185  9,284 

Net book value
At 31 March 2022  7,653  359  1,360  47  512  112  27  10,070 
At 31 March 2021  7,862  182  1,478  -  629  116  59  10,326 

14. Investment properties non-social housing properties held for letting

Group

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Valuation
At 1 April  45,570  43,847 
Additions  3  70 
Reclassification to housing properties  -  (1,006)
Disposals  (988)  (135)
Increase in value  2,740  2,794 

At 31 March  47,325  45,570 

Association
2022 2021

£’000 £’000

Valuation
At 1 April  15,670  15,297 
Additions  3  - 
Disposals  (210)  - 
Increase in value  1,378  373 

At 31 March  16,841  15,670 

The valuation of investment properties was carried out 
at 31 March 2022 and is based on their market value as 
at that date.

The valuations across the group were carried out by 
Savills (UK) Limited and RMS Estate Agents Limited, 
firms of RICS registered valuers in accordance with 
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (‘RICS’) Valuation 
– Global Standards 2022 (incorporating the IVSC 
International Valuation Standards), using qualified 
chartered surveyors who had sufficient current local 
and national knowledge of the particular market, and 
skills and understanding to undertake the valuation 
competently. The companies have adopted the 
provisions under sections 16.1 and 16.2 of FRS 102 in 

relation to the revaluation of their investment 
properties (fair value movements being taken to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income). On 
consolidation of the group’s housing property values, 
any unrealised surpluses derived from inter-group 
property sales are removed.

RMS Estate Agents have valued the properties on an 
individual basis subject to any existing tenancy 
agreements, whereas Savill’s (UK) Limited has valued 
the properties as a single lot, subject to any existing 
tenancy agreements.
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15. Investments

HomeBuy loans receivable Group & Association
2022 2021

£’000 £’000

At 1 April 200 245
Loans redeemed during year (16) (45)

At 31 March 184 200

The loans are repayable when the properties, against which the loans are charged, are sold. No interest is charged 
however, the association takes the proportion of the sale proceeds as agreed at the commencement of the loan and 
any associated grants are recycled.

16. Investment in associate

At 31 March 2022 the group and association had the following interest in Invisible Creations Limited.

Invisible
Creations 

Limited
£’000

Cost
At 1 April 67
Additions -

At 31 March 67

Share of retained profits
£’000

At 1 April (67)
Result for the year -

At 31 March (67)

Net book value
At 31 March 2022 -

At 31 March 2021 -

On 3 December 2021 Invisible Creations Limited was placed in administration.

17. Investment in subsidiaries and associate

At 31 March 2022 the Karbon Group comprised the parent, Karbon Homes Limited, together with the following 
organisations each of which are either subsidiaries or an associate of the association within the meaning of the Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014:

Subsidiary name Registered number Class and percentage of 
issued shares held Nature of business

York Housing Association 
Limited

Co-operative and 
Community Benefit 
Societies Act -16826R

Ordinary - 100% Registered social landlord

Prince Bishops Homes 
Limited

Register of Companies - 
06712466

Ordinary - 100% Market rent and for sale 
development

Enterprise Durham 
Partnership Limited

Registrar of Companies - 
09077819

Limited by guarantee Social enterprise

Next Level Developments 
Limited

Registrar of Companies – 
1645896

Ordinary - 100% Residential development

Karbon Developments 
Limited

Registrar of Companies – 
04895180

Ordinary - 100% Property development

Karbon Solutions Limited Registrar of Companies – 
09475120

Ordinary - 97% Non-profit making cost 
sharing vehicle

Karbon Land Ventures 
Limited

Registrar of Companies - 
13846737

Ordinary - 100% Property development

Associate name Registered number Class and percentage of 
shares held Nature of business

Invisible Creations 
Limited*

Registrar of Companies - 
11945108

Ordinary - 28.5% Manufacturing and 
distribution of adaptation 
aids

* On 3 December 2021 Invisible Creations Limited was placed into administration. 

All the companies are registered in England and Wales.
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17. Investment in subsidiaries and associate (continued)

The registered address for all entities is Number Five, Gosforth Park Avenue, Gosforth Business Park, Newcastle upon 
Tyne NE12 8EG, apart from Invisible Creations Limited which is registered at Eden Point, Three Acres Lane, Cheadle 
Hulme, Cheadle, Cheshire SK8 6RL and York Housing Association which is registered at 2 Alpha Court, Monks Cross 
Drive, Huntington, York, YO32 9WN. 

The group has taken advantage of the exemptions within FRS 102 ‘related party transactions’ not to disclose 
transactions with other wholly owned group companies.

During the year, the association had the following intra-group transactions with Karbon Solutions Limited:

2022 2021 Allocation basis
£’000 £’000

Provision of heating, maintenance and business services 6,410 8,431 Actual costs
Management services 649 954 Percentage of central 

overheads                            
7,059 9,385

Karbon Solutions Limited owes Karbon Homes Limited £141,638 (2021: £486,156) at the year end.

19.  Deferred asset
Group and Association

In 2021, with the issue of £100.0m of retained bonds, Karbon’s loan liability increased to £250.0m; Karbon had secured 
assets worth £245.0m against the £250.0m debt with £5.0m being retained by BNY Mellon, the bond administrator, 
until full securitisation was attained.

As part of this bond issue, Karbon received a loan premium of £30.0m, £2.5m of which was retained to be released 
upon full asset securitisation.

By August 2021, full securitisation against the £250.0m issue had been achieved and the £5.0m bond and £2.5m loan 
premium were released.

18. Properties for sale

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Completed shared ownership properties  318  1,565  318  1,565 
Shared ownership properties under construction  1,600 943  1,600  714 
Properties for outright sale under construction  134  655  -  655 

 2,052  3,163  1,918  2,934 

19. Deferred asset (continued)

Group and Association
2022 2021

£’000 £’000

At 1 April 7,500 815
Repaid during the year (7,500) (815)
Additions during the year - 7,500

At 31 March - 7,500

20. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Due within one year
Rent and service charges receivable  7,408 6,659  7,076  6,380 
Less: provision for bad and doubtful debts  (5,224) (4,113)  (5,094)  (3,991)

 2,184  2,546  1,982  2,389 
Social housing grant receivable  -  1,265  -  1,265 
Other debtors  5,974  3,920  5,750  3,584 
Amounts owed from subsidiary undertakings  -  -  3,056  1,042 
Prepayments and accrued income  7,254  3,892  6,286  2,779 
Corporation tax 31 - 1 -

 15,443  11,623  17,075  11,059 

21. Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Due over one year
Amounts owed from group undertakings  -  -  19,733  21,389 
Amounts owed from associate  -  83  -  83 
Bond discount  2,882  2,999  2,882  2,999 
Other debtors  1,703  1,607  -  - 

 4,585  4,689  22,615  24,471 
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21. Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

The amount owed by the subsidiary companies of 
£19.7m (2021: £21.4m), relates to intercompany loans 
between Karbon Homes Limited and Prince Bishops 
Homes Limited (PBH), Enterprise Durham Partnership 
Limited (EDP) and Next Level Developments Limited 
(NLD). 

The loan amount is secured on the assets of PBH and 
interest is charged on the full loan balance at 5.25%. 
The loan is repayable over a 30-year period or on the 
sale of property. PBH can at any time make voluntary 
repayment. The loan to EDP is repayable by July 2024, 
interest is charged on the first £350k at 5.25%; 
borrowings over £350k are charged at 8%. The loan to 
NLD is unsecured and interest is charged on the full 
loan balance at 5.25%. The loan is repayable over a 
three-year period and NLD can at any time make 
voluntary repayment.

The bond discount is amortised over the life of the 
29-year £150.0m tranche of Karbon Homes’ UK 
publicly listed bond, originally released in November 

2018. A bond discount debtor balance is created when 
there is a difference, at the time of pricing the deal on 
the capital markets, that results in the underlying 
interest rate (coupon rate) being lower than the market 
standard coupon price. In this case, Karbon then 
received actual funds to the value of £146.2m based on 
a coupon of 3.375% and was able to pay a reduced 
level of interest over the life of the bond in comparison 
to paying a yearly coupon of 3.5% which would have 
generated physical cash receipts of exactly £150.0m.

The other debtors due after more than one year 
represents the loan made by Next Level Developments 
Limited to UKQ Clive Street Holdings LLP for on-
lending to UKQ Clive Street LLP for the acquisition and 
development of land at Clive Street, North Shields. The 
loan is unsecured, is repayable by 3 May 2024 and 
generates a £400k priority return, plus 6% interest per 
annum.

22. Investments

Investment products used and the levels with individual counterparties, were in line with the group’s approved treasury 
policies.

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Liquidity Investment Reserve 1,017 1,016 1,017 1,016
Nationwide Building Society 15,037 2 15,035 -
Barclays Bank - 110 - -
Santander UK 23,093 24,604 24,093 24,604
Bank of Scotland 14,709 23,609 14,501 23,500
NatWest Bank 2,000 - 2,000 -
Mitsubishi UFG Bank 20,502 10,000 20,502 10,000
Lloyds Bank 15,994 24,978 15,994 24,978

93,352 84,319 93,142 84,098

23. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Debt (note 28)  14,967  9,625  14,000  8,657 
Trade creditors  2,810  2,399  2,592  2,324 
Rent and service charges received in advance  3,290  2,845  3,058  2,639 
Social housing grant received in advance  1,783  -  1,783  - 
Amounts due to contractors for certified work  1,320  753  1,320  753 
Amounts owed to local authorities for Right to Buy sales  388  233  388  233 
Amounts owing to subsidiary undertakings  -  -  4,433  4,939 
Recycled capital grant fund (note 25)  -  638  -  - 
Disposal proceeds fund (note 26)  -  -  -  - 
Other taxation and social security  761  759  725  722 
Other creditors  3,067  2,929  3,044  2,786 
Accruals and deferred income  25,869  18,432  19,803  12,439 
Service charge creditor  1,274  1,111  1,274  1,111 
Deferred capital grant (note 27)  5,164  5,161  4,930  4,924 
Corporation tax liability -  263  -  179 

 60,693  45,148  57,350  41,706

24. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Debt (note 28)  451,823  465,908  427,960  441,960 
Loan breakage costs (note 28)  684  754  684  754 
Loan premium  32,384  33,762  32,055  33,418 

Total debt  484,891  500,424  460,699  476,132 
Recycled capital grant fund (note 25)  1,343  1,045  1,336  1,041 
HomeBuy grant  200  200  200  200 

 486,434  501,669  462,235  477,373

 
A loan premium creditor balance is created when there is a difference, at the time of pricing a deal on the capital 
markets, that results in the underlying interest rate (coupon rate) being higher than the market standard coupon 
price. The premium balance is amortised to the income and expenditure account over the remaining life of the loan 
product. The majority of the premium balance was created when Karbon Homes (Association) released £100.0m in 
retained UK listed 2047 bonds in June 2020 but received physical cash receipts of £130.3m from the trade.
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25. Recycled capital grant fund

26. Disposal proceeds fund

Funds pertaining to activities within areas covered by Homes England:

Funds pertaining to activities within areas covered by Homes England:

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April  1,683  2,852  1,041  2,052 
Grants recycled  969  484  962  484 
Interest accrued  2  1  2  1 
Major repairs and works to existing stock  -  -  -  - 
Withdrawal for development of properties  (1,311)  (1,654)  (669)  (1,496)

Balance at 31 March  1,343  1,683  1,336  1,041 

Further analysed as:
Grant remaining:
-in the fund for three years at 31 March  -  631  -  - 
-in the fund for two years but fewer than three  -  7  -  - 
-in the fund for one year but fewer than two  372  559  372  555 
-in the fund less than one year  971  486  964  486 

Balance at 31 March  1,343  1,683  1,336  1,041 

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April  -  255  -  255 
Use/allocation of funds:    
New build  -  (255)  -  (255)

Balance at 31 March  -  -  -  - 

27. Deferred capital grant

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April  342,422  332,372  318,104  308,796 
Grant received in the year  16,345  8,706  15,137  8,120 
Acquisition - business combination  68  -  68  - 
Transferred from/(to) RCGF  524  1,541  (111)  1,383 
Grant write off on disposal  (273)  (163)  (272)  (161)
Grant write off on replacement  (123)  (34)  (123)  (34)

At 31 March  358,963  342,422  332,803  318,104 

Grant amortisation
At 1 April  64,519  59,624  58,390  53,731 
Amortisation in year  5,099  5,020  4,865  4,783 
Released on disposal - properties  (443)  (108)  (442)  (107)
Released on disposal - replacements  (71)  (17)  (71)  (17)

At 31 March  69,104  64,519  62,742  58,390 

Deferred capital grant
At 31 March  289,859  277,903  270,061  259,714 
At 1 April  277,903  272,748  259,714  255,065 

Further analysed as:
Amount due to be released:
-within one year  5,164  5,161  4,930  4,924 
-after one year  284,695  272,742  265,131  254,790 

 289,859  277,903  270,061  259,714 

Social housing grant and other grant Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Total accumulated grant receivable at 31 March was:
Capital grants  358,963  342,422  332,803  318,104 
Revenue grants  5,730  5,650  5,325  5,309 

 364,693  348,072  338,128  323,413 
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28. Debt analysis 

At 31 March 2022 the group had undrawn loan facilities of £124.7m (2021: £135.6m). 

Bank debt is secured by specific charges on the group’s housing, land and buildings and is repayable at rates of interest 
varying between 1.45% and 6.87% in instalments due as detailed above. 

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Due within one year
Bank loans  14,967  9,625  14,000  8,657 

Due after more than one year
Bank loans  163,423  172,008  143,560  152,060 
The Housing Finance Corporation debt  4,000  9,500  -  5,500 
Affordable Housing Finance debt  34,400  34,400  34,400  34,400 
Bond  250,000  250,000  250,000  250,000 

 451,823  465,908  427,960  441,960 

 466,790  475,533  441,960  450,617 

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Due within one year  14,967  9,625  14,000  8,657 
Between one and two years  5,025  24,279  3,398  14,000 
Between two and five years  29,694  23,958  24,450  20,017 
After five years  417,104  417,671  400,112  407,943 

 466,790  475,533  441,960  450,617 

Breakage costs Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Opening breakage cost  754  820  754  820 
Amortised to interest payable  (70)  (66)  (70)  (66)

 684  754  684  754 

28. Debt analysis (continued)

The Housing Finance Corporation loans were at a fixed rate of 8.75% but the net effect of amortising the premium 
received with these loans reduced the effective rate to 8%. The association loans were repaid in December 2021.

The Affordable Housing Finance loan is at a fixed rate of 2.89% but the net effect of amortising the premium received 
with these loans reduces the effective rate to 1.99%. The loans are repayable by bullet instalments in the year 2043.

The Bond financing is at a fixed rate of 3.375% repayable by bullet instalments in 2047.

The group has a £0.3m unsecured overdraft facility, which is repayable on demand. Interest is charged at 2% over the 
bank’s base rate. 

Financial instruments

The group and association had the following financial instruments:

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial assets that are debt instruments measured 
at amortised cost:
Cash at bank and in hand 30,135 62,570 27,364 58,096
Investments 93,352 84,319 93,142 84,098
HomeBuy loans 184 200 184 200
Rental and service charge debtors 7,408 6,659 7,076 6,380
Other debtors 7,708 5,527 5,751 3,584
Social housing grant receivable  - 1,265  - 1,265
Accrued income 7,090 1,862 6,072 875
Amounts owed from subsidiaries and associate  -  83 22,789 22,514

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:

Loan debt (466,790) (475,533) (441,960) (450,617)
Trade creditors (2,810) (2,399) (2,592) (2,324)
Recycled capital grant fund (1,343) (1,683) (1,336) (1,041)
Deferred capital grant fund (358,963) (342,422) (332,803) (318,104)
HomeBuy grants (200) (200) (200) (200)
Social housing grant received in advance (1,783)  - (1,783)  - 
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings  -  - (4,433) (4,939)
Other creditors and accruals (31,664) (23,248) (25,629) (16,991)
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28. Debt analysis (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
The group uses various financial instruments, including 
loans and cash and other items such as rental arrears 
and trade creditors, that arise directly from its 
operations. The main purpose of these financial 
instruments is to raise finance for the group’s 
operations.

The existence of these financial instruments exposes 
the group to a number of financial risks. The main risks 
arising from the group’s financial instruments are 
considered by the board to be the interest rate risk, 
liquidity risk and credit rate risk. 

The board reviews and agrees policies for managing 
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk
The group finances its operations through a mixture of 
retained surpluses and bank borrowings. The group’s 
exposure to interest fluctuations on its borrowings is 
managed by the use of both fixed and variable rate 
facilities.

Liquidity risk
The group seeks to manage financial risk by ensuring 
sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable 
needs and invest cash assets safely and profitably. In 
addition to drawn borrowings and cash balances of 
£30.1m, the group has £124.7m of undrawn committed 
facilities.

Credit risk
The group’s principal credit risk relates to tenant arrears. 
This risk is managed by early intervention when 
tenants go into arrears, provision of Money Matters 
support and by close monitoring of the arrears of 
self-funding tenants. We are continuously engaging 
with our tenants to ensure that this risk is minimised 
and rental flows are maintained.  

29. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Group
Dilapidations

£’000

Site 
demolition

£’000

Land
rectification

£’000

Other

£’000

Deferred 
tax 

£’000

Total  
2022 

£’000

Total  
2021 

£’000

At 1 April  375  399  250  153  9  1,186  394 
Utilised/released in the year  -  (60)  -  (153)  (9)  (222)  (10)
Provided in the year  -  -  881  -  10  891  802 

At 31 March  375  339  1,131  -  10  1,855  1,186 

29. Provisions for liabilities and charges (continued)

Dilapidations
The provision for dilapidations relates to properties 
rented by the association which could result in 
payments for dilapidations to landlords when leases 
end.

Site demolition
The provision for site demolition relates to costs and 
grant write back of clearing a site.

Land rectification
The provision for land rectification costs relates to the 
cost of reinstating an embankment following a landslip.

Other
The association had previously provided for expected 
making good costs when vehicle leases end, 
compensation costs and fire risk costs on a scheme; 
these have all been released or utilised in the year.

Deferred tax

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 9 19 - -

Deferred tax charged/(released) to statement of 
comprehensive income

1 (10) - -

At 31 March 10 9 - -

Summarised:
Accelerated capital allowances 10 9 - -

The group has not recognised £242.5k of deferred tax. Unused tax losses totalled £840.5k (2021: £370.0k).

Association
Dilapidations

£’000

Site 
demolition

£’000

Land
rectification

£’000

Other

£’000

Deferred 
tax 

£’000

Total  
2022 

£’000

Total  
2021 

£’000

At 1 April  375  399  250  153  -  1,177  375 
Utilised/released in the year  -  (60)  -  (153)  -  (213)  - 
Provided in the year -  -  881  -  -  881  802 

 
At 31 March 375  339  1,131  -  -  1,845  1,177
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30. Share capital

On 1 April 2021 Karbon Homes Limited acquired Byker 
Community Trust via a transfer of engagement. No 
consideration was paid by the association for the fair 
value of assets and liabilities as detailed below.

The Byker Community Trust transfer of engagement is 
considered to be an acquisition, hence acquisition 
accounting has been followed and Section 19 (Business 
Combinations and Goodwill) of FRS 102 has been 
applied such that the identifiable assets and liabilities 
are included in the Statement of Financial Position at 
the fair value at the date of acquisition. 

The difference between the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets and the purchase consideration is 
considered negative goodwill. This is deemed to be a 
non-exchange transaction as it is in substance a gift of 
one business to another and therefore under FRS 102 
the negative goodwill arising on the fair value of the 
assets has been recognised as a gain in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. 

An external EUV-SH valuation provided by Savills UK 
Limited has been used to establish the fair value of the 
Byker Community Trust housing stock that transferred 
on 1 April 2021.

The valuation has been made in accordance with the 
RICS Valuation – Global Standards 2022.

31. Acquisitions

The nominal value of each share is £1. The shares do not have a right to any dividend or distribution in a winding up and 
are not redeemable. Each share has full voting rights. 

The restatement relates to an additional share surrendered during 2021.

2022 2021
Restated

£ £
Allotted and issued
At 1 April 11 11 
Issued during the year 2 4
Surrendered during the year (2) (4)

At 31 March 11 11

31. Acquisitions (continued)

The assets and liabilities of Byker Community Trust as at 1 April 2021 were:

Book  
Value

Fair Value 
adjustments

Fair Value 
to the 
group

£’000 £’000 £’000
Fixed assets 
Housing properties  24,841  (7,680)  17,161 
Fixed asset work in progress  342  (118)  224 
Other fixed assets  45  -  45 
Debtors > 1 year  179  -  179 

Current assets
Debtors  645  -  645 
Investments  1,539  -  1,539 
Cash at bank and in hand  3,303  -  3,303 

Liabilities
Creditors < 1 year  (12,943)  -  (12,943)
Creditors > 1 year  (806)  738  (68)
Pension provision  (981)  (19)  (1,000)

Net assets acquired  16,164  (7,079)  9,085 

Costs associated with the transfer of engagement (524)
Negative goodwill as per Statement of Comprehensive Income 8,561

32. Reserves
At 31 March 2022 the revenue reserve included £24.4m defined benefit pension liability (2021: £40.9m).

Group Revenue 
reserves

Restricted 
reserves

Total 
reserves

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2021  287,294  450  287,744 
Surplus for the year  35,713  -  35,713
Actuarial gain relating to pension scheme  19,164  -  19,164 

At 31 March 2022 342,171 450 342,621 
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32. Reserves (continued)

Mr. JS Charlton died in 2005 leaving a legacy of £449,684 for the building of six affordable housing units for older 
people in the Newbrough and Warden parishes on the condition that the gift should be disclosed as a restricted 
reserve for 25 years up to and including 2045. At the end of the 25 years, the restricted reserve will transfer into 
general reserves.

33. Financial commitments

The above commitments will be financed primarily through existing cash balances or borrowings, which are available 
for draw-down under existing loan arrangements, with the balance funded through social housing grant and 
operating cash flows.

Capital expenditure commitments were as follows:

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Expenditure contracted for but not provided 
in the accounts

133,283 107,987 128,425 100,242

Expenditure authorised by the board,  
but not contracted

200,344 49,318 199,692 48,626

333,627 157,305 328,117 148,868

Association Revenue 
reserves

Restricted 
reserves

Total 
reserves

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2021  253,767  450  254,217 
Gift Aid  597  -  597 
Surplus for the year  33,278  -  33,278 
Actuarial gain relating to pension scheme  18,974  -  18,974 

At 31 March 2022  306,616  450  307,066

34. Contingent liabilities

The group had contingent liabilities at 31 March 2022 of £29.1m (2021: £28.3m) which is the original government 
funding relating to the acquisition of properties from Guinness Partnership in 2019 and Byker Community Trust in 2021. 
Karbon Homes Limited is responsible for the recycling of the grant in the event of the disposal of the properties.

33. Financial commitments (continued)

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Land and buildings:
      Within one year  235  451  107  327 
      Two to five years  287  543  119  251 

 522  994  226  578 

Vehicles and office equipment:
      Within one year  1,386  562  1,386  562 
     Two to five years  3,915  1,607  3,915  1,607 

 5,301  2,169  5,301  2,169 

Group Association
2022 2021 2022 2021

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Land and buildings:
      Within one year  201  80  201  80 
      Two to five years  225  211  225  211 
      Five years or more  200  136  200  136 

 626  427  626  427 

Operating leases payable

The future minimum lease payments which the group is committed to make under operating leases, are as follows:

Operating leases receivable

The future minimum lease receivables which the group is expecting to receive under operating leases are as follows:
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35. Net cash flow from operating activities

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

Cash flow from operating activities

Surplus for the year 35,713 22,096 

Adjustments for non-cash items:
Revaluation gain in year (2,740) (2,794)
Negative goodwill arising on acquisition - business combination  (9,085) -
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 25,573 24,331 
Release of deferred grant income  (5,151) (5,037)
Impairment 851 1,071 
Increase in provisions 668 811 
Pension operating charge 6,155 4,022 
Pension contributions paid  (4,513) (4,249)
Share of operating deficit in associate company - 67 
Taxation (102) 198 
Increase in stock (31) (115)
Decrease in properties for sale 1,104 4,904 
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other debtors (4,714) 605 
Increase in trade and other creditors 6,674 2,123 

14,689 25,937 

Adjustments for investing or financing activities:
Gain from sale of tangible fixed assets (3,738)  (1,617)
Grants utilised in the year (1,311) (1,909)
Interest payable 19,003 18,760 
Interest received (300)  (211)

13,654 15,023 

Taxation
Corporation tax paid (191) (52)

Net cash generated from operating activities 63,865 63,004

Group 2022 2021
£’000 £’000

(Decrease)/increase in cash  (32,435)  40,342 
Cash inflow from increase in liquid resources  9,033  55,651 
Cash outflow from decrease/(increase) in debt and  
lease finance  8,743  (93,151)

(Decrease)/increase in net debt from cash flows  (14,659)  2,842 
 
Net debt at 1 April  (328,644)  (331,486)

Net debt at 31 March  (343,303)  (328,644)

36. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

37. Analysis of net debt

1 April Non-cash Cash 31 March
2021 Movements flow 2022

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 62,570 3,303 (35,738) 30,135

Changes in cash 62,570 3,303 (35,738) 30,135

Current asset investment 84,319 1,539 7,494 93,352 

Housing loans due in one year (9,625) (10,000) 4,658 (14,967)
Housing loans after one year (465,908) - 14,085 (451,823)

Changes in debt (475,533) (10,000) 18,743 (466,790)

Changes in net debt (328,644) (5,158) (9,501) (343,303)
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Notes to the financial statements

38. Related parties

Notes 16 and 17 - Investment in subsidiaries and associate - provides details of the relationship and 
transactions between parent, registered, unregistered subsidiaries and associate.

39. Post balance sheet events

In May 2022, the boards of York Housing Association (YHA), Leeds and Yorkshire Housing Association 
(LYHA) and Karbon Homes approved an outline business case to bring about a merger by transfer of 
engagements of LYHA into YHA. Subject to due diligence and further approvals from the board and 
shareholders, it is expected that completion will take place by the end of 2022. At this point all LYHA 
assets, liabilities, operations, and contractual positions will transfer to YHA.
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